

Walden University Scholar Works

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2017

Integrating Consumer Feedback Into Business Marketing Strategies

Elijah G. Clark Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the <u>Advertising and Promotion Management Commons</u>, <u>Business Administration</u>, <u>Management</u>, and <u>Operations Commons</u>, <u>Management Sciences and Quantitative Methods</u> <u>Commons</u>, and the <u>Marketing Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Elijah Clark

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Denise Hackett, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Rocky Dwyer, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Al Endres, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2017

Abstract

Integrating Consumer Feedback Into Business Marketing Strategies

by

Elijah G. Clark

MS, Full Sail University, 2010 BS, Art Institute of Pittsburgh, 2008

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

January 2017

Abstract

Consumer feedback and reviews are critical to the success of businesses because 49% of consumers trust online reviews more than other sources. The purpose of this multicase study was to explore marketing managers' strategies for using consumer reviews to improve marketing success, brand awareness, and their clients' profitability. The conceptual framework for this study was built upon organizational theory and disruptive innovation theory. The participants were recruited through local events, social media, and e-mail. Data were collected from public online records and semistructured telephone interviews using 1 marketing manager from each of 5 marketing agencies in North Texas. Thematic analysis and methodological triangulation of the data revealed themes of marketing objective, response, and reputation management. Based on the findings, the successful businesses focused on building relationships with consumers, and the business leaders prepared responses to reviews to ensure appropriateness. Other marketing managers can review the findings' relevance to create or enhance successful marketing strategies, which could help to increase profitability. The implication for social change is that jobs would be created for enhancing the local economy and residents' standards of living.

Integrating Consumer Feedback Into Business Marketing Strategies

by

Elijah G. Clark

MS, Full Sail University, 2010 BS, Art Institute of Pittsburgh, 2008

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

January 2017

Dedication

I dedicate this doctoral study to my wife Anastasia for enduring my long nights of research and writing and for her unconditional love and support during the journey.

Acknowledgements

The advancement of this study simply would not have been conceivable without the help of many individuals. I first want to express gratitude toward God for gifting me with the knowledge, wisdom, and determination. I would like to thank my boys, Malachi and Elisha, for their understanding and patience while I completed my work instead of spending time with them. I would like to extend heartfelt thanks to my Chair, Dr. Denise Hackett for her mentorship and encouragement. I would also like to thank Dr. Gregory Banks, Dr. Al Endres, Dr. Rocky Dwyer, and Dr. Yvonne Doll for their support and guidance.

Table of Contents

ist of Tables i	V
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	.1
Background of the Problem	.1
Problem Statement	. 1
Purpose Statement	.2
Nature of the Study	.2
Research Question	.3
Interview Questions	4
Conceptual Framework	.5
Operational Definitions	6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	6
Assumptions	7
Limitations	7
Delimitations	7
Significance of the Study	.7
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	9
Organizational Theory	0
Disruptive Innovation Theory	1
Marketing Strategies	1
Market Research	2
Relationship Marketing1	3

Consumer Perception	15
Consumer Behavior	16
Trends and innovation	18
Consumer Reviews	22
Review Types' Credibility	36
Collecting Consumer Review Data	39
Summary and Transition	41
Section 2: The Project	43
Purpose Statement	43
Role of the Researcher	44
Participants	45
Research Method and Design	47
Research Method	47
Research Design	49
Population and Sampling	50
Ethical Research	51
Data Collection Instruments	53
Data Collection Technique	54
Data Organization Technique	56
Data Analysis	57
Reliability and Validity	58
Reliability	59

Validity	60
Summary and Transition	61
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	62
Introduction	62
Presentation of the Findings	63
Applications to Professional Practice	77
Implications for Social Change	78
Recommendations for Action	79
Recommendations for Further Research	80
Reflections	81
Conclusion	82
References	84
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	109

List of Tables

Table 1. Types and Counts of References	 1(
Table 1. Types and Counts of References	 ıυ

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Consumer reviews encourage other consumers to make informed purchasing decisions. In a study of 2,139 participants, researchers found that 49% of consumers trusted online reviews more than other sources (Flanagin, Metzger, Pure, Markov, & Hartsell, 2014). These reviews are vital to the success of marketing firms in developing strategies (Cui, Lui, & Guo, 2012). Marketing managers use them to help forecast profits, influence consumers' perceptions, and increase customer satisfaction (Cui et al., 2012). The purpose of this qualitative multicase study was to explore how knowledge of consumer reviews helped marketing managers in the North Texas region develop successful marketing strategies.

Background of the Problem

The Internet has become a critical source of communication for consumers and businesses (Pomirleanu, Schibrowsky, Peltier, & Nill, 2013). Consumers rely on consumer reviews more than any other medium when evaluating commercial information and making purchases (Aral, 2014; Flanagin et al., 2014). Consequently, consumer reviews have become an area of interest for marketing managers seeking to increase brand awareness and profits (Malbon, 2013). Some marketing managers neglect to develop the necessary knowledge for successfully integrating consumer feedback into business marketing strategies (Utz, Kerkhof, & Van Den Bos, 2012).

Problem Statement

Consumer reviews provide the best methodology and opportunity for facilitating product and brand discussion by weighing one opinion against another (Kietzmann &

Canhoto, 2013). The general business problem was that a lack of knowledge about consumer reviews could lead to a loss of marketing success for organizations seeking to generate brand awareness and profitability. The specific business problem was that some marketing agency managers lack strategies for using consumer reviews to effect marketing success, brand awareness, and profitability for their clients.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative, multicase study was to explore marketing managers' strategies for using consumer reviews to improve marketing success, brand awareness, and their clients' profitability. The targeted population of the study included marketing agency managers located in North Texas who had demonstrated success in addressing strategies for using consumer reviews to improve marketing, brand awareness, and profitability for their clients. The implication for positive social change includes the potential to improve business and consumer relationships. Better relationships could increase business and yield positive social change by benefiting the local economy through generating more jobs and enhancing communities' tax revenues to increase local residents' standard of living.

Nature of the Study

Research study methodologies are qualitative, quantitative, or mixed (Venkatesh, Brown, & Bala, 2013). Using a qualitative research method enables researchers to identify and explore the behavior of individuals, by analyzing details and collecting indepth data from multiple sources (Šalkovska & Ogsta, 2014). A quantitative approach would have limited me to using structured or raw data and statistics to form and test one

or more hypotheses for answering the research question (Šalkovska & Ogsta, 2014). A qualitative methodology was most appropriate for my study as it enabled me to explore a specific subject and collect and explore participants' decisions and experiences through interviews and public records from Internet sources.

Research designs for a qualitative research study include (a) phenomenological, (b) ethnographic, (c) grounded theory, and (d) case study (Petty, Thomson, & Stew, 2012). According to Petty et al. (2012), researchers use the phenomenological design to explore lived experiences and perspectives of individuals. In an ethnographic approach, the researcher observes the lives of the participants by exploring rituals, social behaviors, and regularities (Petty et al., 2012). A grounded theory design works best with an iterative data collection method and analysis to develop theories about social phenomena (Petty et al., 2012). Since I did not seek to research individual world-views or lived experiences on identifiable concerns or create common themes as explained by Yin (2014), I chose not to use a phenomenological, ethnographic, or grounded theory design. Employing a case study allowed me to explore strategies based on the real world situation of marketing managers who work directly with integrating consumer reviews into marketing strategies.

Research Question

The research question was as follows: What consumer review strategies do marketing managers use to improve marketing success, brand awareness, and profitability for their clients?

Interview Questions

Through the interviews, I wanted to learn about the strategies marketing managers used with consumer reviews to increase marketing success, brand awareness, and profitability for their clients. Questions 1-3 were initial probe questions, Questions 4-10 were concept questions, Question 11 was a follow-up question, and Question 12 was a wrap-up question.

- 1. What types of products or services does your organization offer?
- 2. What is the goal of your marketing and advertising strategies?
- 3. What consumer review utilization strategies do you use to generate marketing success, brand awareness, and profitability for customers?
- 4. In regards to organizations that you assist with marketing, what past experiences have those organizations had with positive or negative consumer reviews?
- 5. How are consumer reviews important for your bottom line?
- 6. What type of priority does your organization place on understanding and addressing positive and negative consumer reviews?
- 7. How does your organization currently influence positive consumer reviews?
- 8. In regards to the person responsible for managing brand reputation and consumer feedback and reviews, what qualifies this person for the position?
- 9. How have actual consumer reviews influenced the development of marketing strategies within the organizations that you work with?

- 10. What challenges have you encountered while developing consumer review strategies, and what have you and your agency learned from those challenges?
- 11. What is the most important thing to know about integrating consumer review knowledge in marketing strategies?
- 12. What additional information can you share regarding consumer review utilization strategies?

Conceptual Framework

I chose the lenses of organizational theory and disruptive innovation theory as the conceptual framework. Modern organizational theory originated during the Industrial Revolution in the late 1800s and early 1900s by theorist Max Weber (Chess, 2001). I used organizational theory by evaluating how businesses identify and solve problems that affected efficiency and productivity. Organizational theory also offers a perspective for understanding effective communication and the risk of improper communication.

Business communication with consumers and consumers' perceptions of businesses play a key role in influencing corporate practice and efficiency (Chess, 2001).

In 1997, Christensen popularized disruptive innovation theory, which is appropriate for identifying changes in the market (Corsi & Di Minin, 2014). The theory can be beneficial for marketing managers and could be applied within organizations to help anticipate their futures. A combination of organizational theory and disruptive innovation theory constitutes an ideal framework for researching consumer reviews (Yu & Hang, 2010). Since consumer reviews influence consumers' perceptions and provide insights into their needs, Yu and Hang suggested that this framework was

optimal for marketing managers and organizations who sought to better understand how to communicate with consumers in order to obtain positive reviews.

Operational Definitions

Consumer reviews: The opinion or feedback of a product or service as determined by a consumer and based on that consumers' personal experience with the product or service (Chuang, Lin, & Wu, 2014).

Marketing strategy: A comprehensive process or model for implementing the goals and objectives presented in a business plan (Xun, 2014).

Marketing success: To successfully implement marketing goals and objectives while increasing business sales and loyalty (Arnett & Wittmann, 2014).

Social influence: For this research study, social influence refers to the feedback and opinions of active and influential community members (Sotiriadis & Van Zyl, 2013).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions are facts that I considered truthful and accurate but without proof. Vernon-Dotson (2013) described an assumption as an indication that a distinct study topic is valid based on common and predetermined factors. Vernon-Dotson (2013) defined limitations as implied vulnerabilities and circumstances out of the researcher's control. Limitations are possible shortcomings or conditions of my research. Both could affect the study's scope and validity. Vernon-Dotson (2013) communicated that delimitations were characterized as elements which portrayed the extent of the study. The delimiting criteria of the study, as per Vernon-Dotson, were the geographical territory, focus of study, and participants.

Assumptions

I assumed that study participants provided valid and sufficient data to classify their business as a marketing firm. There was an assumption that participants were honest and forthcoming with information. I assumed that interview questions and public data would provide sufficient data for answering the central research question. Additionally, I assumed that this study could yield positive social change by benefiting the local economy through generating more jobs and enhancing communities.

Limitations

This study had two principal limitations: (a) the number of five participants was small; (b) marketing managers were limited to the North Texas area and only those who had demonstrated success in addressing strategies for using consumer reviews to improve marketing, brand awareness, and profitability for their clients.

Delimitations

Researchers use delimitations to describe the scope of a study and to establish parameters for the study (Jolley & Mitchell, 2010). As the researcher, delimitations were in my control. In this study, they included the geographical area of North Texas and the population of five marketing managers who had developed successful strategies for using consumer reviews in marketing strategies.

Significance of the Study

Consumer reviews influence other consumers to purchase products based on the content of the reviews (De Maeyer, 2012; Lee & Shin, 2014). Thus, consumer reviews affect the image and profitability of businesses. Consumer reviews have become more

valuable to potential consumers than marketing efforts provided by product manufacturers (De Maeyer, 2012). Organizations in the food, entertainment, and gaming industry have found that consumer reviews improve product awareness and profits (Cui, Lui, & Guo, 2012). In this study, I provide further insights into consumer reviews and how analyzing them can improve marketing results and thus improve corporate growth and profit generation.

Relationships with consumers are essential for businesses that desire to improve sales and create or maintain a positive brand reputation (Dwesar & Rao, 2014). The findings and recommendations from this study could contribute to social change by identifying potential opportunities or problem areas and help businesses and consumers build better relationships. The findings of this study can also contribute to social change by demonstrating the need for marketing agencies to identify and address marketing trends and technology for improving the methods by which consumers communicate with businesses and followers.

Marketing managers and consultants, particularly those within the online and advertising industry, can benefit from research related to consumer reviews. Marketing and advertising businesses and consultants work with various organizations to improve organizational marketing efficiency and profitability. The data collected from this study might contribute to businesses by identifying problem areas and offering solutions to those problems, which could help marketing managers successfully develop strategies, brand awareness, and increase their clients' profitability. By developing successful consumer review strategies and increasing profitability, businesses can achieve positive

social change by benefiting the local economy through generating more jobs and enhancing communities. A vibrant economy could enhance the standard of living of local residents

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this comprehensive literature review was to: (a) identify gaps in the literature, (b) increase my knowledge of the research topic that was relevant to the study's purpose, and (c) to explore marketing managers' strategies for using consumer reviews to improve marketing success, brand awareness, and their clients' profitability.

The review contains key and recent writings in business and marketing that address the purpose statement. The review consists of an analysis of consumer reviews, including a brief overview of market research, marketing strategies, and relationship marketing. Research on consumer reviews lends support to the content of this review. An evaluation of consumer reviews in business marketing strategies demonstrates the circumstances that marketing managers face when developing consumer marketing strategies. Discussion of additional research follows on consumer perception, consumer behavior, market trends, review credibility, and data collection.

I organized the literature review according to the following 11 themes: (a) organizational theory, (b) disruptive innovation theory, (c) marketing strategies, (d) market research, (e) relationship marketing, (f) consumer perception, (g) consumer behavior, (h) trends and innovations, (i) consumer reviews, (j) review types' credibility, and (k) collecting consumer review data.

Material for this study consists principally of peer-reviewed articles from sources including SAGE, ProQuest, EBSCO, and Google Scholar. The roster includes 174 total references, 166 (95.4%) of which are peer-reviewed and 152 (87.3%) of which were published within 5 years of 2017, the expected year of CAO approval. Of the 174 references, a total of 94 are cited in the literature review section of the study, of which 84 were peer-reviewed. Table 1 contains the types and counts of total articles, books, and dissertations in the study.

Table 1

Types and Counts of References

	Recent (within 5 years of 2017)	Before 2013	Total	% of total references
Books	5	0	5	2.9
Dissertations	3	0	3	1.7
Peer-reviewed articles	144	22	166	95.4
Total	152	22	174	87.3 (<u><</u> 5 years)

The following search terms were used: consumer reviews, marketing strategies, word-of-mouth, electronic word-of-mouth (eWOM), consumer perception, market research, consumer behavior, big data, and market trends.

Organizational Theory

Researchers use organizational theory to identify how businesses can prevent and solve problems to maximize efficiency and productivity. Organizational theory helps businesses to achieve success by promoting marketing managers' comprehension of organizational change and innovation benefits. An organizational theory conceptual framework is optimal for businesses seeking to better comprehend how to communicate

with consumers through marketing (Yu & Hang, 2010). To advance organizational efficiency, businesses can use organizational theory to identify patterns and structures relating to marketing strategies, market research, and consumer behavior and perception. Using organizational theory provides a perspective for comprehending effective communication and the risk of improper communication. Communication between businesses and consumers, and consumers' perceptions of the business play a key role in influencing corporate practice and organizational efficiency (Chess, 2001).

Disruptive Innovation Theory

Disruptive innovation is a theory for identifying market changes and new entries within established markets (Corsi & Di Minin, 2014). Understanding disruptive innovative theory assists researchers in evaluating market trends of new business products and services (Obal & Lancioni, 2013). Businesses should remain present and ahead of trends by improving business structures and using innovative technology fully (Obeidat, North, Richardson, Rattanak, & North, 2015). As a result of Internet and technology advancements, online shopping has significantly affected consumer behavior compared to traditional shopping (Richard & Habibi, 2016). Furthermore, consumers have the ability to influence the development of brands considering the utilization of online social media networks, which are optimal for mining data (Song et al., 2014).

Marketing Strategies

Marketing strategies can provide advantages for businesses seeking better understanding of current and potential consumers' needs (Ritter, 2016). They help managers in evaluating business needs and influence purchases of consumers (Woo, Ahn,

Lee, & Koo, 2015). To develop a successful marketing strategy, managers should focus on developing knowledge of consumer demands and lifestyles (Nica, 2013). The purpose of a marketing strategy is to assess the essential needs of businesses by evaluating consumer demands and developing relevant procedures to positively influence consumer purchasing decisions (Woo et al., 2015).

Marketers use strategies to address business goals and concerns by surveying and assessing organizational knowledge, effectiveness, threats, and opportunities (Lipnická & Ďaďo, 2013). A marketing strategy should assist businesses in achieving brand awareness, promoting business trust, and improving profits and investor wealth (Ritter, 2016). In addition, marketing strategies are pivotal for discovering potential risks within organizational operations, increasing knowledge of consumers, and competitors (Lipnická & Ďaďo, 2013).

Market Research

Marketing managers use market research data in developing successful marketing strategies (Pomirleanu, Schibrowsky, Peltier, & Nill, 2013). As market research grows in popularity, practitioners must continuously react to the market demands and innovations (Yadav & Pavlou, 2014). In a study of 1,957 marketing articles, researchers found that there were 68.5% of marketing research studies published between the years 2005 and 2013 (Pomirleanu et al., 2013). In developing marketing strategies and enhancing knowledge, it is essential for marketing managers to conduct market research (Pomirleanu et al., 2013). Furthermore, Yadav and Pavlou (2014) expressed that

marketing research knowledge had significantly increased in response to an increase in disruptive innovation including the Internet and technology development.

Market research is optimal for repositioning businesses and product advancement, notwithstanding the distribution of the repositioning across configurations (Bjerrisgaard & Kjeldgaard, 2013). Marketing managers use market research to help discover marketing opportunities and expand market shares through various conveyance channels (Pisano, 2015). Marketing research influences the performance and effectiveness of marketing strategies (Lages, Mata, & Griffith, 2013).

Relationship Marketing

Establishing business-to-business (B2B) relationships is paramount for sustaining long-term business success for many organizations (Dwesar & Rao, 2014). Furthermore, relationships with consumers are essential for businesses that desire to develop sales and generate a positive brand reputation (Dwesar & Rao, 2014). To build B2B relationships, businesses should first develop relationships with consumers to help improve the perception of the business (Viio & Grönroos, 2014). In working to build consumer perception through relationships, consumers frequently recognize business relationships as having a personal connection with the organization (Bettencourt, Blocker, Houston, & Flint, 2015). In analyzing whether consumers looking for relationships with businesses actually desired a genuine personal relationship with the business, Bettencourt et al. (2015) discovered that a majority of business-to-consumer (B2C) relationships were inauthentic when contrasted with genuine individual affiliations.

The use of social media provides benefits for organizations attempting to cultivate relationships and identify areas concerning consumer decision making, which could help construct successful marketing strategies (Vinerean, Cetina, Dumitrescu, & Tichindelean, 2013). The foundation of relationship marketing includes commitment, trust, comprehension, and quality (Jussila, Kärkkäinen, & Aramo-Immonen, 2014). In an additional study, Vinerean et al. (2013) inferred that relationship quality significantly affected consumer loyalty. Subsequent to directing an examination of 306 online surveys, Jussila et al. (2014) confirmed that the four measurements of relationship quality influenced loyalty. Nevertheless, only the consumers' perception and comprehension of quality and value influenced purchase intentions (Jussila et al., 2014). Successfully establishing business relationships positively influences consumer perception and organizational sales (Bettencourt et al., 2015).

Business marketing accomplishments require businesses and marketing managers to improve beyond minimal services and exchanges with consumers (Bettencourt et al., 2015). By creating successful B2B relationships, businesses could increase revenue and brand loyalty from relationship partners (Perez, Whitelock, & Florin, 2013).

Nevertheless, businesses often neglected to develop effective relationships with consumers (Bettencourt et al., 2015). After evaluating the effect of technology start-ups on consumers within B2B markets, researchers proposed a model for effectively evaluating consumers (Perez et al., 2013). By using the model, the researchers suggested businesses use developed B2B and B2C relationships to help innovate and generate brand loyalty.

Consumer Perception

Consumer perception is a significant predictor of consumer purchasing intentions (Lim, 2013). Consumers write reviews as either positive, negative, or neutral based on perceived experiences with businesses (Kietzmann & Canhoto, 2013). Reviews regarding product trust principally affect consumer perceptions of products and organizational brands (See-To & Ho, 2014). Consumer perception of purchasing processes influences online consumer reviews, business reputations, and sales (Chuang, Lin, & Wu, 2014). Furthermore, the demographics of consumers have an influence on consumer reviews. Consumers with a positive perception of a business react differently to reviews compared to consumers that do not have a positive perception (Chuang et al., 2014). Furthermore, consumer demographics has no significant influence on the quality or value of consumer reviews (Chuang et al., 2014).

Consumers with limited or no perception of a business developed a more concrete perception when considering reviews before making purchases (Bottger, Emrich, Lee, & Rudolph, 2015). Based on shopping goal theory, peer perception influences certainty and motivates initiatives (Böttger et al., 2015). Consequently, marketing managers should seek to position product knowledge at the beginning of a consumers' journey (Böttger et al., 2015). While attempting to examine the relationship between consumer uncertainty reduction and value perception, researchers found that uncertainty influenced the value perception of businesses (See-To & Ho, 2014). To reduce the potential concern of consumer uncertainty, businesses should display reviews publicly to assist in improving the value perception of the business (See-To & Ho, 2014). Moreover, consumers who

value reviews and have a positive perception of a business are more likely to become brand ambassadors and will pay a premium price if they believe they will be satisfied with the purchase (De Maeyer, 2012).

Consumer Behavior

As a marketing manager, the goal to develop a successful strategy includes an analysis of consumer behaviors, which should assist in developing a strategy based on those identified behaviors (Barnes & Jacobsen, 2014). Successful marketing strategies start with an examination and cognizance of consumer behavior and variables that influence consumer behavior (Sargunani & Bruce, 2015). Understanding consumer behavior is valuable for gaining insights into human motivations and how consumers allocate resources in various circumstances (Griskevicius & Kenrick, 2013). Consumers use social behaviors as protection from disingenuous businesses by promoting strength for consumers while appearing concerns (Griskevicius & Kenrick, 2013). Consumer socialization is valuable for anticipating correspondence and consumer behavioral attitudes (Vinerean et al., 2013). Additionally, personal values have a significant influence on consumer behaviors (Vincent & Selvarani, 2013). Personal values were an underlying determinant of the attitudes and behaviors of consumers and could surpass other major constructs of research by allowing for measuring variables (Vincent & Selvarani, 2013).

Successful marketing strategies start with an examination and cognizance of consumer behavior and variables that influence consumer behavior (Sargunani & Bruce, 2015). Establishing an understanding of consumer behavior is central to developing

successful marketing strategies (Griskevicius & Kenrick, 2013). Consumer behavior is vital for marketing managers exploring opportunities to develop successful strategies, influence consumer decisions, and expand brand awareness (Sargunani & Bruce, 2015). Moreover, attempting to offer a product without understanding consumer behavior could cause losses of revenue and time (Sargunani & Bruce, 2015).

Businesses should concentrate on comprehending consumer behavior processes by adequately engaging with various types of consumers (Sargunani & Bruce, 2015). To better understand consumer behaviors in an online environment, Lim (2013) assessed the theory of online buyer behavior for presenting evidence supporting the existence of a relationship between consumer behaviors and purchases. Lim collected data from mall-intercept samples for structural equation modeling. The study participants consisted of 350 consumers, comprising of 69% females, ranging in the ages of 18 to 51. Of the participants, 57% were between the ages of 21 and 30 years. Lim concluded that consumers' attitudes and behaviors depended on their perceptions of value, ease of use, and convenience. Lim asserted that knowledge of consumers in an online environment was pivotal for developing knowledge and influencing consumer behaviors.

Consumer behavior relates to purchasing decisions, and a common variable exists that links personality, values, attitudes, interest, and lifestyles (Vincent & Selvarani, 2013). The common variable is defined as values and lifestyles (VALS) and interpreted as a proprietary research method for developing and comprehending psychographic market segmentations (Vincent & Selvarani, 2013). VALS is beneficial for comprehending individuals' express personalities through behaviors (Vincent &

Selvarani, 2013). Personal values have a more significant effect on consumer behavior compared to other psychographics considering personal values link centrally to an individual's cognitive system (Vincent & Selvarani, 2013).

Personal values were defined by Vincent and Selvarani (2013) as an underlying determinant of the attitudes and behaviors of consumers. Likewise, Griskevicius and Kenrick (2013) stated that consumer behaviors were valuable for gaining insights into human motivations and how consumers allocated resources in various circumstances. To direct the study, Griskevicius and Kenrick dissected how, why, and when motives most affected the behavior of consumers. As indicated by Griskevicius and Kenrick, motives and the behaviors of consumers changed predictably.

Trends and innovation

Understanding disruptive innovation theory assists researchers in evaluating market trends (Corsi & Di Minin, 2014). For innovation to be advantageous within businesses, a business must have a strategy for informing consumers on the specific benefits of the product or service from the trend or innovation (Obal & Lancioni, 2013). By using disruptive innovative theory, Song et al. (2014) expressed that the use of social media was a developing trend, and users of social media network systems influenced the advancement of brands. Consequently, the authors advocated that marketing managers develop strategies incorporating knowledge of trends and areas identifying with technology, Internet, innovation, and social media (Sotiriadis & Van Zyl, 2013). Innovation of the Internet and social media aligns with the conceptual framework of disruptive innovation theory, which assists in identifying market changes and new entries

within established markets (Corsi & Di Minin, 2014). Consumer behavior correlates with society and behavioral reactions (Richard & Habibi, 2016). Trends affected by consumer choices, the Internet, social media, and technology have a greater influence on consumer behavior than conventional advertising (Richard & Habibi, 2016).

Technology trends. Technology influences consumers in regards to business sustainability and corporate responsibility (Gruber & Schlegelmilch, 2014). Emerging innovative technology propelled businesses to develop by providing a medium for evaluating choice patterns of consumers (Gruber & Schlegelmilch, 2014). Some researchers follow disruptive innovation theory, which assists in evaluating market trends such as innovative technology (Corsi & Di Minin, 2014). Technology has influenced a growth in consumer social communication, which aligns with disruptive innovation theory (Flanagin et al., 2014). Additionally, consumers rely on and solicit the opinions of family and friends via social networks when evaluating products and services (Flanagin et al., 2014).

The advancement of technology influenced the value of products and services (Pisano, 2015). Moreover, by using technology, marketing managers could develop strategies that decidedly enhance perceived product value (Perez et al., 2013). Marketing managers could additionally utilize innovative technology to improve marketing research knowledge (Yadav & Pavlou, 2014). Considering innovative technology and growth in the Internet, market research knowledge has grown significantly. Furthermore, employing innovative technology helped to advance market research (Obal & Lancioni, 2013). For technology to remain beneficial within markets, a business must have a system for

effectively using technology to train and educate consumers on the benefits of a product or service (Obal & Lancioni, 2013). The findings from the study aligned with disruptive innovation theory, which helps to identify market changes and new entries within established markets (Corsi & Di Minin, 2014).

Internet trends. In 2012, global B2B electronic commerce transactions accounted for \$12.4 trillion (Ueasangkomsate, 2015). B2B sales have seen a significant growth because of the Internet (Lim, 2013). The progression of the Internet will continually add value to business relationships and provide material for future marketing research (Viio & Grönroos, 2014). The development of the Internet linked to disruptive innovation theory, which helps to identify market trends and growth (Corsi & Di Minin, 2014). The development of the Internet has shifted businesses from paper-based and people-intensive purchasing frameworks toward electronic frameworks that depended on the Internet (Xiang, Wang, O'Leary, & Fesenmaier, 2014),

Consumers are moving toward the Internet to develop knowledge, business insights, and for other personal reasons (Caniëls, Lenaerts, & Gelderman, 2015). Businesses that utilized traditional marketing techniques and advertising methods had likewise seen a decrease in revenue (Caniëls et al., 2015). Considering the exceptional growth of the Internet, businesses without a viable marketing strategy embracing the Internet witnessed a lack of marketing effectiveness, product sales, and brand awareness (Xun, 2014). To counter the effects of the interpersonal communication that the Internet presented, businesses should develop strategic marketing communication for targeting Internet-based consumers (Caniëls et al., 2015).

Using the Internet to gather information could aid in collecting pertinent data for better comprehending the perceptions of consumers toward a business (Vinerean et al., 2013). Given the development of the Internet, businesses can use the technology for storing and accumulating consumer information (Vinerean et al., 2013). Likewise, because of the significant influence of the Internet, business leaders should use the Internet to help with establishing relationships with business partners (Sarmento, Simões, & Farhangmehr, 2015). In a similar study, Viio and Grönroos (2014) noted that consumer perceptions often influenced successful B2B relationships. Consequently, to effectively develop business relationships, marketers should seek to comprehend the behaviors and perceptions of consumers. A central aspect of relationship marketing is for businesses to communicate with customers (Sarmento et al., 2015). Developing effective correspondence is foremost to accomplishing brand loyalty, which supports the development of positive relationships with consumers and businesses (Viio & Grönroos, 2014).

The Internet affects individuals in their everyday lives and produces challenges for businesses considering the openness of social media (Erragcha & Romdhane, 2014). Online networking has revealed an entryway for consumers to express their concerns to businesses, and the method for correspondence encourages interaction amongst businesses and consumers (Erragcha & Romdhane, 2014). Subsequently, consumers would appreciate having their sentiments validated (Sarmento et al., 2015). However, the immediate and open forum of communication presented challenges for businesses (Akdeniz, Calantone, & Voorhees, 2013). Consumers influence brand

awareness considering the opinions of consumers propel brand reputations (Erragcha & Romdhane, 2014). For instance, inquiries, comments, and reactions on discussion boards often affect brand loyalty, social following, and purchasing habits. Given the Internet, online networking helped enrich and improve business activities as well as increase the value and reputation of businesses (Barnes & Jacobsen, 2014; Erragcha & Romdhane, 2014).

The disruption of the Internet and growth in consumer business choices encouraged consumers to express opinions on social media and other online domains (Xun, 2014). Consumers turned to Web 2.0 to communicate positive and negative statements regarding purchases of products and services (Brake, 2014). Consumers seek the opinions of others through reviews when making purchasing decisions (Brake, 2014). Web 2.0 technology influences consumers to post online reviews about products and services on various websites (Li, Guan, Tang, & Chen, 2012). Furthermore, Web 2.0 enables consumers to post reviews easily on social media channels including web forums and commercial websites including Amazon.com (Li et al., 2012). In agreement with previous studies, Li et al. (2012) suggested that consumer reviews affected sales and purchasing decisions.

Consumer Reviews

By successfully leveraging consumer perceptions, businesses can further strengthen brand loyalty and business relationships (Viio & Grönroos, 2014). When attempting to leverage consumers' perceptions, consumer reviews are ideal for encouraging exchanges through the weighing of one opinion versus another (Sheppard &

Jones, 2013). Communication and consumers' perceptions play a key role in influencing corporate practice and organizational efficiency (Chess, 2001). The method of communication is essential to the conceptual frameworks of the study. A combination of organizational theory and disruptive innovation theory is an ideal framework for researching consumer reviews (Yu & Hang, 2010). In assessing the effect of consumergenerated feedback and reviews, Flanagin et al. (2014) determined that 49% of consumers trusted online reviews more than other sources. The benefits of product reviews include influencing consumers to make informed decisions before proceeding with purchases (Cui, Lui, & Guo, 2012). Moreover, marketing managers utilize reviews for projecting profits, comprehending consumer perception, and developing business relationships (Cui et al., 2012). Considering the influence of consumer reviews on business development and profitability, marketing managers should fully comprehend how to capitalize from feedback and reviews expressed by consumers (Cui et al., 2012).

Businesses should utilize product reviews as a resource to improve sales and communicate with consumers and potential consumers (Park & Nicolau, 2015).

Marketing managers should comprehend reviewer demographics and characteristics (Park & Nicolau, 2015). A survey by Internet marketing and advertising company comScore found that 24% of online consumers considered online reviews prior to making a purchase (Ritchie, Lewis, Nicholls, & Ormston, 2013). Moreover, by examining the influences of reviews and product sales in relation to commonalities between products and consumers, Ritchie et al. (2013) suggested that marketing managers seeking to gain

insights into behaviors of consumers should use consumer reviews as a method of obtaining information.

The value of consumer reviews depends on the quantity of the review's substance, the credibility of the reviewer, and the nature of the review (Fan, Miao, Fang, & Lin, 2013). The Internet provides numerous venues for consumers and marketing managers to share and receive product knowledge through the sharing of experiences and insights (Fan et al., 2013). After analyzing previous research data, Fan et al. (2013) expressed that consumer-generated reviews were more trustworthy and credible than any other form of correspondence. Moreover, using the Internet permitted consumers to purchase products effortlessly and conveniently through websites including Amazon.com and eBay.com, which permitted consumers to search and compare products, brands, and reviews (Van Der Heide, Johnson, & Vang, 2013). In addition to the value of products, consumers consider reviews, seller's notoriety, and promotional product photos as the most influential elements when making purchasing decisions (Van Der Heide, Johnson, & Vang, 2013).

Some consumers are fundamentally influenced by information posted by previous consumers and consider those reviews most credible and trustworthy (Sparks, Perkins, & Buckley, 2013). Content style, source, and peripheral credibility cues in social reviews influence consumer beliefs (Sparks, Perkins, & Buckley, 2013). It is difficult to comprehend the credibility of consumer reviews, and consumer perception of reviews is the most distinguishing factor in purchasing intentions (Zhao, Yang, Narayan, & Zhao, 2013). Expert reviews provide more credibility and trustworthiness (Flanagin & Metzger,

2013). Consequently, guest reviewers, new reviewers, and reviewers with a low number of posts lacked credibility.

Based on an evaluation of 75,226 online consumer reviews from Amazon.com using a web crawler, researchers found that it was difficult for consumers to evaluate all reviews and determine which were most helpful and trustworthy (Baek, Ahn, & Choi, 2012). Instead of consuming time analyzing product details, consumer reviews are beneficial for helping consumers make decisions by analyzing reviews of the products or services (Xun, 2014). Consumer reviews have a significant influence on consumer behavior and brand perceptions (Utz et al., 2012). Potential consumers adopt consumer reviews as information resources for assisting with the decision-making process (Akdeniz, Calantone, & Voorhees, 2013). Likewise, consumer reviews do have a significant effect on consumer purchasing behavior (Korfiatis, García-Bariocanal, & Sánchez-Alonso, 2012).

Online consumer reviews constitute a focal point for evaluating consumer decision making when executing online purchases (Korfiatis et al., 2012). The quality of consumer reviews has a significant effect on the credibility, trustworthiness, and perception of consumers (Korfiatis et al., 2012). Moreover, consumers use reviews to help determine the trustworthiness of online stores based on the rating and quality of reviews (Korfiatis et al., 2012). In using a web-based experiment to examine the quality and effect of product reviews on study participants' decisions, research found that consumers rate reviews based on the quality and extent of the review (Lee & Shin, 2014). High-quality reviews were adequately detailed and generated positive evaluations (Lee &

Shin, 2014). Likewise, in a study of 577 participants, researchers concluded that expert opinion did have a significant influence on the perception of reviews (Situmeang, Leenders, & Wijnberg, 2014). Additionally, visual presentation of reviews had a significant effect on the perceptions of the participants (Situmeang et al., 2014). Furthermore, observable characteristics of products did have a notable effect on product perceptions and reviews (Situmeang et al., 2014).

Variables from reviews and promotional marketing are significant indicators of product demand (Chong, Ch'ng, Liu, & Li, 2015). Saghafian and Van Oyen (2012) agreed with Chong et al. and recommended that variables in online reviews were preferred compared to promotional marketing reviews. Okazaki, Díaz-Martín, Rozano, and Menéndez-Benito (2015) stated that consumer reviews benefited businesses that used reviews to influence sales. For example, businesses could use positive reviews as a way to increase sales for particular products by using a recommender system when potential consumers search for products to purchase or product details (Okazaki et al., 2015). Organizational theory and disruptive innovation theory conceptual framework are optimal for marketing managers and organizations seeking to better understand how to communicate with consumers for obtaining positive reviews (Yu & Hang, 2010). Consumer reviews are additionally beneficial for generating sales considering reviews encourage purchases by avoiding confusion and limiting choice overload (Baum & Spann, 2014).

Consumer reviews and word-of-mouth have always played a significant role in influencing product sales for businesses (Malbon, 2013). Additionally, consumer reviews

help increase product sales, reduce price sensitivity, and increase consumer knowledge, which helps increase consumer satisfaction (De Maeyer, 2012). Likewise, consumer reviews influence potential consumers' purchasing decisions by providing important product attributes that help reduce the uncertainty of purchasing (De Maeyer, 2012). After testing a sample of 203 consumer review community participants on OpenRice.com, researchers determined that 69% of the participants shared reviews and based those reviews on various factors including reputation, sense of belonging, and the joy of helping others (Cheung & Lee, 2012).

Social Media Reviews. Businesses should use social media correspondence for presenting marketing endeavors and for influencing relationships between businesses and consumers (Laroche, Habibi, & Richard, 2013). Social media reviews align with disruptive innovation theory considering the affect it has on establishing new markets (Corsi & Di Minin, 2014). Having an influential social presence is critical for businesses attempting to propel marketing and brand development strategies (Meuter, McCabe, & Curran, 2013). Increasing knowledge and knowing how to use social media correspondence strategies and brand showcasing can benefit businesses by exploiting opportunities that social networks present (Jin & Phua, 2014). Consumers use social media to socialize with one another, and the form of communication has a significant impact on consumer decision making, which affects business marketing strategies (Vinerean et al., 2013). In conducting a study consisting of 236 social media users' online interactions to evaluate predictors relating to social media sites, Vinerean et al. (2013)

concluded that online networking had a significant effect on consumers' perceptions of online marketing and advertisements.

Businesses can fail to understand fully how to leverage social media and consumer-generated reviews (Utz et al., 2012). The development of the Internet provided an essential source for correspondence between consumers and businesses and additionally extended word-of-mouth correspondence (Labrecque et al., 2013). Social media is a fundamental source of influence for managers and businesses seeking to enhance consumer satisfaction, expand brand awareness, generate profits, and develop healthy business relationships (De Maeyer, 2012). The innovation of the Internet influenced consumer reviews and enabled businesses and marketing managers to identify problem areas related to the offering of services, products, and consumer loyalty (De Maeyer, 2012; Utz et al., 2012).

Online social influence could increase product purchases and brand awareness (Ahrens, Coyle, & Strahilevitz, 2013). In a large-scale field experiment comprising 45,000 participants of an online mall, Ahrens, Coyle, and Strahilevitz (2013) found that both financial and value incentives were significant influencers for generating brand awareness through social members. Barnes and Jacobsen (2014) concentrated on providing knowledge to major sectors of the United States and examined how businesses failed to comprehend completely and respond to online discussions. If marketing managers managed to become aware of how to capitalize from online discussions, they could develop strategies that affect business reputations, profits, and brand awareness

(Barnes & Jacobsen, 2014). Observing consumer behaviors is beneficial for developing social media marketing strategies for businesses (Barnes & Jacobsen, 2014).

To effectively utilize social media, businesses should screen social behaviors and develop objectives for tracking social media accounts (Barnes & Jacobsen, 2014). Businesses should utilize social media correspondence for implementing marketing strategies (Laroche et al., 2013). Various businesses use social media communication to develop relationships with businesses and consumers (Laroche et al., 2013). Having a solid social presence is fundamental for businesses attempting to propel marketing and brand development strategies (Labrecque et al., 2013). Knowing how to advance social media correspondence strategies could benefit businesses by exploiting opportunities presented through using social media (Okazaki et al., 2015). Observing consumer behavior online could help with developing marketing strategies for social networking (Barnes & Jacobsen, 2014). To effectively utilize social media, businesses should screen social behaviors and develop objectives for following social media accounts (Okazaki et al., 2015). Moreover, to trace social media behaviors, businesses should have a strategy with objectives that require tracking measures, site visits, and the quantity of followers of the social media influencer (Agnihotri et al., 2015). Additionally, businesses should hire staff responsible for social media functions (Okazaki et al., 2015).

In seeking adequately to understand the influential effects of social media, researchers concluded that the development of online social media affected marketing and business relationships (Sotiriadis & Van Zyl, 2013). Considering the development of the Internet and the impacts of consumer reviews, online social influence could expand

product purchases and brand perceptions (Wang, 2014). Consequently, businesses should manage brand perceptions using social media, which could help define the consumer-related portions of a business marketing strategy (Mostafa, 2013). Maintaining active social media accounts can help develop business branding and advertising campaigns targeted toward consumers (Mostafa, 2013).

Online networking is a gathering of Internet-based applications built on the foundation of ideology and technical specifications of Web 2.0, which allows for the development and exchange of user-generated content (Whiting & Williams, 2013). Social media is a critical area of enthusiasm for marketing managers and practitioners seeking to evaluate and influence consumers' perceptions (Whiting & Williams, 2013). Researchers found that 88% of marketers used social media and spent over \$60 billion per year consistently on social media marketing (Whiting & Williams, 2013). The most valuable social media tools for gathering marketing data are LinkedIn®, Twitter, Facebook, and online blogging (Laroche et al., 2013). The essential marketing applications of social media include content marketing, market research, and business networking (Laroche et al., 2013).

Social media is a practice for soft marketing via relationship and brand development and influences business and consumer interactions (Agnihotri, Dingus, Hu, & Krush, 2015; Erragcha & Romdhane, 2014). Social media influenced a dynamic sales increase for salespersons using social media practices (Agnihotri et al., 2015). In the event that sales representatives used social media, it could affect data correspondence behaviors (Erragcha & Romdhane, 2014). Furthermore, using social media allows for

businesses and marketing managers to develop and expand correspondence with consumers (Agnihotri et al., 2015). Businesses should use social media to influence a positive relationship with consumers notwithstanding building customer satisfaction and brand loyalty (Agnihotri et al., 2015).

Social influence is characterized as a propensity to accept data as evidence about reality (Flanagin et al., 2014). For instance, with online movie ratings, consumers frequently rate movies based on previous ratings by other consumers (Flanagin et al., 2014). Social media has a significant influence on the actions and suppositions of consumers, and influences purchasing intentions (Flanagin et al., 2014). Some consumers of online social communities felt they had a moral obligation of sharing their experiences through feedback and reviews (Cheung & Lee, 2012). The more active the community member, the more influential their opinion (Sotiriadis & Van Zyl, 2013). Consumer social influence is most significant when the review directly relates to the potential consumer, or when the review describes in detail the complaint or issue with the product or service (Flanagin et al., 2014).

For an individual to be influential on social media, they need to present relevant substance within reviews and have a reasonable social following (Labrecque et al., 2013). Business marketers could regain influential power by identifying, reaching, and bargaining with exceptionally social consumers (Labrecque et al., 2013). To develop relationships of power, businesses should solicit influential consumers and provide product samples and ask that the influencers share evaluations and feedback on social networks (Labrecque et al., 2013). The advantage of using social media for businesses is

to connect with consumers, which could decidedly influence the brand's notoriety and awareness (Vinerean et al., 2013). Businesses should use consumer socialization to comprehend consumer behavioral attitudes (Vinerean et al., 2013).

Social media users have a preference for which platform to use when posting social reviews (Kietzmann & Canhoto, 2013). Moreover, consumer reviews have a significant effect on the sales of brands (Babic, Sotgiu, de Valck, & Bijmolt, 2015). However, no evidence has been found supporting whether one social platform had more of an affect than another (Babic et al., 2015). To help investigate the influence of social media platforms, Babic et al. (2015) conducted a meta-analysis of 1532 participants across 96 studies covering 40 platforms and 26 product categories. Based on the study, Babic et al. stated that social media reviews correlated positively with sales, but did not have a unique effect based on a particular social platform.

Electronic word-of-mouth. Consumers often use social media channels when purchasing products or services (Meuter, McCabe, & Curran, 2013). Social media channels including Facebook, Amazon, and Yelp are greater influences than electronic word-of-mouth communication on company websites and through the form of testimonials (Meuter et al., 2013). Electronic word-of-mouth has a significant influence on the success of businesses (Okazaki et al., 2015). Growth in social media affected the reputation of various brands because of the personal relationships that previous consumers had with potential consumers (Meuter et al., 2013).

Electronic word-of-mouth (eWOM) has become a significant influence on consumer decision-making processes, and businesses have worked diligently to prevent

negative reviews and generate positive reviews to help increase product sales (Fan et al., 2013). Consumers depend heavily on the opinions generated by eWOM (Fan et al., 2013). EWOM was a paramount influential factor in online communication advancement and has significantly affected businesses by providing a platform for consumers to influence potential buyers' purchasing decisions (Babic et al., 2015; Fan et al., 2013).

The innovation of online social media had a significant effect on marketing and businesses (Sotiriadis & Van Zyl, 2013). Furthermore, eWOM and online reviews were developing because of the Internet, and presenting challenges for various industries (Sotiriadis & Van Zyl, 2013). The development of eWOM introduced a method for increasing online sales and consumer awareness for businesses including the travel industry (Sotiriadis & Van Zyl, 2013). Additionally, Cantallops and Salvi (2014) assessed eWOM within the hotel industry and found that the Internet and information technology prompted a change in consumer behavior. Because of technology advancements, a change in marketing strategy development should occur (Cantallops & Salvi, 2014). Lis and Nebler (2014) described eWOM as a method for presenting recommendations, online reviews, and opinions, which had continually developed with the emergence of new technology and the Internet. The main contrast between traditional word-of-mouth and eWOM was that eWOM had a greater reach and accelerated interaction (Lis & Nebler, 2014). Considering the simplicity of accessing eWOM reviews, businesses had progressively sought to comprehend factors and results influencing eWOM (Lim, 2013).

EWOM and traditional word-of-mouth communication have extended to online communication and networking through social forums, review sites, and news sites

(Cheung & Lee, 2012). Various levels of mood-enhancements, escapism, experiential learning, and social interaction have mixed effects on eWOM (Lis & Nebler, 2014). A growth in eWOM helped shape consumer purchasing behavior (Cheung & Lee, 2012). Considering a growth in eWOM, future studies were necessary to help comprehend the full effects and rational for the growing trend (Cheung & Lee, 2012).

Abrantes, Seabra, Lages, and Jayawardhena (2013) evaluated the relationship between *in-group* and *out-of-group* electronic word-of-mouth. Abrantes et al. defined the term in-group as eWOM directed toward individuals' close friends and family. Out-of-group eWOM referred to individuals beyond the reviewers' social, family, and collegial circle (Abrantes et al., 2013). There is a positive relationship between experimental learning and eWOM for out-of-group relationships, while no relationship exists in experimental learning and eWOM for in-group relationships (Abrantes et al., 2013).

Interested consumers have repeatedly relied on consumer reviews when making a purchasing decision (Hu, Bose, Koh, & Liu, 2012). Sales of products are significantly dependent on eWOM influences (Hu et al., 2012). Moreover, eWOM affects the trust and perception of businesses and the products they offered (See-To & Ho, 2014). When there is a large number of positive eWOM referrals, sales and business profits increase (See-To & Ho, 2014). Additionally, positive eWOM influenced purchasing behavior of consumers considering it promoted trust and expectations (See-To & Ho, 2014).

Focus groups. Focus groups provide businesses with resources to seek legitimate feedback, conduct beta testing, and evaluate consumers' perceptions through real-time reviews (Miles & Sparks, 2014). Focus groups take into account in-depth interviews with

participants that are useful for expanding consumer and product knowledge (Šalkovska & Ogsta, 2014). Businesses have an expanding interest in the service and the results that focus groups generate (Woodyatt, Finneran, & Stephenson, 2016). In assessing the influence of consumer-generated feedback and reviews, researchers noted that endorsed opinions and homogeneity in reviewers' impressions enhanced the sales of products and services (Jabr & Zhiqiang, 2014). Online focus group organizations help businesses and marketers observe the responses of consumers concerning specific concepts and ideas (Sheppard & Jones, 2013). Focus groups are ideal for acquiring data for measuring status and trends (Danielsen et al., 2014). Moreover, unlike local focus groups, online focus groups provide businesses the opportunity to decide the cost of products and services based on the opinion of topographically diverse participants (Woodyatt et al., 2016).

Focus groups are underutilized research approaches (O'hEocha, Wang, & Conboy, 2012). Furthermore, the core theoretical components of focus groups are indepth data, local focus group interactions, and a humanistic character (O'hEocha et al., 2012). The core segment of focus groups are the connections among the participants (O'hEocha et al., 2012). In particular, the interaction with participants helped researchers gather less accessible data, which would not have generally come to surface using traditional data collection methods. Business and marketing managers should use focus groups for acquiring and analyzing data for exploring product awareness and consumers' perceptions (Danielsen et al., 2014). Likewise, consumer reviews were eight times cheaper than traditional data collection methods but lacked the geographical reach of focus group research methods (Danielsen et al., 2014). Additionally, focus groups were

more reliable because of careful validation processes that considered time, commitment, and credibility of the results (Danielsen et al., 2014).

Researchers of focus group studies recommended subjects and probing openended questions (Sheppard & Jones, 2013). The drawbacks of using focus groups are that using the method do not help researchers observe participants in a natural setting, which often have an effect on the results (O'hEocha et al., 2012). In an attempt to analyze the reliability of focus groups, Danielsen et al. (2014) concluded that the group setting was as reliable as other methods of interviews, and the credibility relied on the participants. Considering focus groups take place within a group setting, participants could affect the decisions of other individuals (Danielsen et al., 2014). Using a structured process is critical to the success of focus groups (Danielsen et al., 2014).

Review Types' Credibility

EWOM is more trustworthy and credible than any other form of communication (Fan et al., 2013). Consumer reviews receive their value based on factors including the credibility of the reviewer, the quantity of the reviews content, and the quality of the review (Fan et al., 2013). After analyzing the writing style of reviewers and the effectiveness of manipulated reviews through sentiments, readability, and ratings, researchers determined that 10.3% of products were subject to online review manipulation (Fan et al., 2013). To counter the effects of manipulated reviews, potential consumers should thoroughly analyze reviews before making purchases based on the content of a review (Hu et al., 2012). In evaluating the value of perceived credibility in the decision-making process of online consumers, Hu et al. (2012) confirmed that

credible eWOM sources positively influenced consumers. Moreover, the quantity and quality of the review's content determined its credibility (Hu et al., 2012).

A source's credibility consists of expertness and trustworthiness (Hansen, Lee, & Lee, 2014). Reviews are significant for marketing managers seeking to analyze consumer reviews effectively (Hansen et al., 2014). For example, a review is more credible when posted by a consumer rather than a business employee or manufacturer (Sparks et al., 2013). Review consistency and the expertness of the reviewer determines the credibility of the review (Baker et al., 2015). Expertness in writing reviews relates to whether the reviewer is qualified to discuss the subject and could perform tasks related to the subject (Hansen et al., 2014). Credibility was additionally determined based on whether the review could be accepted or approved without further research or evidence (Hansen et al., 2014). Comprehending review credibility could positively influence marketing methods for marketing managers seeking to increase product awareness and profits.

Negative word-of-mouth. After conducting a study for analyzing the effects of negative word-of-mouth (NWOM) online, researchers suggested that businesses develop an appropriate response to counter the effects of NWOM communication (Lang & Hyde, 2013). How a business responds to NWOM is crucial for whether the business will suffer negatively from the effects of the NWOM (Barnes, 2014). NWOM plays a pivotal role in influencing purchasing decisions and how potential consumers perceive businesses (Lang & Hyde, 2013). By examining theoretical and practical implications, limitations, and directions, Barnes (2014) found that multiple consumer reviews helped to increase credibility compared to a single review without peer agreement. When there is significant

agreement on NWOM, potential consumers are influenced to follow the greater opinion (Barnes & Jacobsen, 2014).

Sensory marketing helps to identify and comprehend the senses and influences of marketing engagement in light of consumers' perceptions, behaviors, and judgments (Krishna & Schwarz, 2014). Businesses should develop a suitable reaction to counter the impacts of NWOM correspondence (Lang & Hyde, 2013). How a business reacts to NWOM is critical for determining whether the business can recuperate from the negative reviews and feedback (Barnes, 2014). In another study, researchers expressed that negative reviews greatly affected consumers seeking to make a purchase online (Cui et al., 2012). While positive reviews did have an influence on consumer decision making, one negative review from a disgruntled employee had a more significant effect on product ratings. Conversely, negative reviews have less of an influence when contrasted to a vast majority of positive reviews (Barnes & Jacobsen, 2014). Consumers who post NWOM reviews have the expectations that marketing managers will read their postings and offer incentives to remove the negative review (Kietzmann & Canhoto, 2013).

Businesses are aware of the effects of consumer reviews, and many businesses work to manipulate online reviews of products to increase sales and profits (Hu et al., 2012). Consumer review manipulation occurs often, but there is no firm evidence suggesting which businesses or industries are using the unethical practice (Malbon, 2013). Marketing managers should assess statistical methods for detecting review manipulation and the effects of manipulated reviews on online shoppers (Ong, Mannino, & Gregg, 2014). Researchers have also found that businesses and marketers often

manipulated reviews to increase ratings and influence consumer product evaluations (Bambauer-Sachse & Mangold, 2013). As a result of the study, the researchers concluded that manipulated reviews more often affected easily influenced consumers than consumers who were less swayed by consumer-generated reviews.

Marketing managers and business owners are aware of the effects of consumer reviews and sometimes succumb to the temptation of generating *fake* reviews to help promote products or services (Malbon, 2013). Website owners and policymakers are responsible for discovering and removing fake reviews (Ong et al., 2014). The drawback of manipulated reviews is that they could unduly damage the reputation of businesses and review websites (Heydari, ali Tavakoli, Salim, & Heydari, 2015). An additional concern with such reviews is that they are difficult to find and report considering reviews have no definite structure or requirement (Heydari at el., 2015). Governments and regulators should reprimand fake reviewers and businesses promoting fake or manipulated reviews as they can cause a loss of confidence in the marketplace (Ong et al., 2014).

Collecting Consumer Review Data

Marketing research could affect marketing execution and adequacy (Lages et al., 2013). Furthermore, businesses should develop marketing strategies to address the local market when the business begins to see a decrease in sales performance (Lages et al., 2013). Because of developments in the Internet, data mining knowledge and interest will likewise continue to increase (Chen et al., 2015). Consequently, marketing managers could utilize the data to help develop marketing strategies and consumer knowledge by analyzing patterns and behaviors. After conducting a study based on two stages of data

collection and datasets, researchers stated that not all consumers were affected by reviews and that the effect of reviews was dependent on a person's education and personal experiences (Noone & McGuire, 2013).

Provost and Fawcett (2013) defined *big data* as datasets that were too large for conventional data processing technologies. Practitioners use datasets for various tasks including data mining and data processing (Provost & Fawcett). Data mining sources include web blogs, forums, wikis, and social media, which are ideal for mining data (Kacen, Hess, & Chiang, 2013). Okazaki et al. (2015) evaluated consumer engagement on Twitter using data mining and determined that social media were helpful in identifying patterns of eWOM. In convincing key stakeholders to take measures to modify the perceived value of the consumer, data should be collected and sorted for assessing the market and developing a marketing strategy for actualizing ideas (Provost & Fawcett, 2013).

Song et al. (2014) concluded that *attention economy* was a system in which consumers shared data and ideas online, and the idea with the most feedback received monetary value. Comprehending the needs of consumers helped to establish future direction and defining product status. Additionally, online data mining from social media networks was advantageous for gathering data quicker and easier than surveys and questionnaires (Song et al., 2014). Benefits of data mining include the capacity to better comprehend consumers by knowing and assessing the networks in which they gather (Chong et al., 2015). Moreover, data mining is also useful for analyzing consumer

behavior, which could assist in establishing a future course for identifying and implementing businesses' marketing strategies (Chong et al., 2015).

Researchers found that 93% of U.S. consumers used the Internet for e-commerce-related activities (Flanagin et al., 2014). In addition to general data mining using the Internet, social media were likewise useful for gathering location-based data about consumers (Chen, Vorvoreanu, & Madhavan, 2014). Data mining also identified with online photograph sharing and the tourism industry and photographs enabled travelers to share their location through geotags, which provided marketing managers with data for using geotag knowledge in marketing strategies (Majid et al., 2013).

Summary and Transition

Section 1 included the problem statement, purpose statement, nature of the study, and the research question, which helped define and guide the stages, reporting, and analysis of the study. Consumer feedback and review knowledge are fundamental for marketing managers seeking to develop strategies that influence brand awareness and profitability. Pursuing knowledge of consumer reviews as a core element of strategic marketing can generate significant difficulties for marketing managers. These difficulties produce complications in marketing firms, where a lack of knowledge of consumer reviews and clarity create barriers to producing successful marketing strategies.

The purpose of this qualitative multicase study was to explore consumer review strategies marketing managers use to improve marketing success, brand awareness, and profitability for their clients. The review of professional and academic literature contains

key and recent writings in the business and marketing field. Reviewing the content of the literature review enabled me to compare research articles relating to my topic.

Section 1 included (a) interview questions, (b) conceptual framework, (c) operational definitions, and (d) assumptions, limitations, and delimitations of the study. Section 1 also included the significance of the study and a review of literature. The literature review comprised key and recent writings in the business and marketing field. The review of literature consisted of an analysis of consumer reviews, including the subjects of (a) market research, (b) marketing strategies, (c) relationship marketing, (d) consumer perception, (e) consumer behavior, (f) market trends, (g) review credibility, and (h) data collection.

Section 2 covers the following topics: (a) purpose statement, (b) role of the researcher, (c) study participants, (d) research methodology and design, (e) population and sampling, (f) ethical research, (g) data collection, (h) data organization, (i) data analysis, and (j) reliability and validity. Section 3 includes the (a) presentation of the findings, and (b) implications for social change, (c) recommendations for action and further research, and (d) closes with research reflections and my overall conclusions.

Section 2: The Project

Consumer reviews help other consumers make informed purchasing decisions; they are essential to the success of marketing managers seeking to develop marketing strategies (Cui, Lui, & Guo, 2012). Marketing managers use consumer reviews to help forecast profits, influence consumers' perceptions, and increase customer satisfaction (Cui et al., 2012). Section 2 covers the following topics: the purpose statement, role of the researcher, study participants, research methodology and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection, data analysis technique, and plans for assuring the study's reliability and validity.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative, multicase study—which used one successful marketing manager from each of five marketing agencies in North Texas—was to explore these managers' strategies for using consumer reviews to improve marketing success, brand awareness, and their clients' profitability. Data collected from this study can contribute to businesses by identifying problem areas and offering solutions to those problems, which could help marketing managers successfully develop strategies, brand awareness, and profitability for their clients. By developing successful consumer review strategies and increasing profitability, businesses can effect beneficial societal and community change by generating more jobs, enhancing communities, and benefiting the local economy.

Role of the Researcher

As the researcher, it was my responsibility to, first, decide the most suitable research methodology and then to search and interact with the participants through (a) preparing research protocol, (b) soliciting, (c) corresponding, (d) interviewing, and (e) member checking. I was responsible for analyzing transcripts and for collecting company data including (a) business goals, (b) plans, (c) marketing strategies, (d) analytics, and (e) other public documentation for assessing strategies for integrating consumer reviews in business marketing strategies.

Given that I have a direct involvement in the marketing industry, my education and contacts developed potential participant affiliations. Moreover, my personal dispositions and convictions toward the marketing industry derive from my experience and training as a marketing consultant. However, I did not use my influence to lead potential participants to believe that participating in this research could result in rewards, relationship benefits, or special favors.

Bias in interviews occurs when researchers encourage or persuade participants to choose one answer over others (Pannucci & Wilkins, 2010). Though my industry experience and education have informed my interest in the topic and my interpretation of collected information, I did not influence participants' responses, which helped to assure the accuracy of the collected data (Kallio, Pietilä, Johnson, & Kangasniemi, 2016). Understanding potential bias and the effects it could have on the study's results is vital for assuring the validity of research (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). Bias can occur in the

planning, data collection, and analysis phases of research. Pannucci and Wilkins (2010) stated that bias reflects propensities that preclude impartial considerations of inquiries.

Researchers can use the Belmont Report for summarizing ethical principles signed into law by the National Research Act in 1974, taking into account the National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research (Adams & Miles, 2013). The Commission concluded that research identifying with human subjects should incorporate statutory guidelines to avert unethical research practices (Adams & Miles, 2013). The Belmont Report highlighted three fundamental systems that summarized ethical principles, which included (a) respect for persons, (b) beneficence, and (c) justice (Adams & Miles, 2013). To ensure ethical execution of the study, I followed the specified procedures and processes in the Belmont Report.

Potential biases could have affected the study's validity considering my industry insight and relationship with participants. To mitigate such biases, I used strategies such as bracketing and member checking to assist in ensuring an accurate representation of participants' perspectives. A qualitative semistructured interview is beneficial for generating trustworthy and reliable results (Kallio et al., 2016). I used a semistructured interview protocol (Appendix A) to aid in the interview and research process by providing structure for conducting my interview with each participant.

Participants

Participants for this qualitative multiple case study had a notable association in marketing identifying with consumer perception, influence, and social media. A sample size for a qualitative research study should be between five and 50 participants (Dworkin,

2012). The research included one marketing manager from each of five marketing agencies. The study participants assisted in forming an understanding of the strategies marketing managers employed when integrating consumer reviews in successful marketing strategies.

The participants included marketing firms and agencies that offered marketing services to clients. Considering the influence of online review websites such as Yelp.com and Amazon.com (Meuter, McCabe, & Curran, 2013), I prequalified my research participants by evaluating the participants' reputation on these networks. Moreover, before selecting potential participants, I considered how reputable the business was as determined by the quantity of clients and analysis of the social media channels and reputations of their firms' clients.

After receiving IRB approval (10-21-16-0542155), I selected potential participants by interviewing lead marketing managers to gain insights into the organization and develop a perception for how the organization integrated consumer reviews in marketing strategies. To further select participants, I (a) attended local business events and associated with marketing groups and professionals to establish new relationships, and (b) searched the Internet for local marketing firms and contacted the marketing department through telephone and e-mail as approved by the IRB.

Throughout the recruiting and research, I followed the suggestions of McDermid et al. (2014) by establishing trust by clearly communicating with participants.

Upon selecting the preferred candidates, I established contact through telephone and e-mail with details explaining the study and prerequisites. I followed-up with a demographic survey which included the following items:

- 1. What is your current job title in the agency?
- 2. What is your age?
- 3. Has this agency been successful at implementing consumer reviews in business strategies?

Research Method and Design

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore solutions for marketing managers within organizations seeking to integrate consumer feedback and reviews in business marketing strategies. Drawing from public records and interviews with marketing managers of marketing firms within the North Texas region of the United States, I assessed collected data of consumer review strategies by the firms. The findings and conclusions from the research should help present various approaches to resolving problems and potential risks within organizations seeking to gain a better understanding of feedback and consumer reviews and how to integrate consumer feedback in business marketing strategies.

Research Method

Research study methodologies are qualitative, quantitative, or mixed methods (Venkatesh, Brown, & Bala, 2013). A qualitative research method is a tool for assessing the conduct of individuals and barriers that affect reasoning by analyzing details and collecting in-depth data from multiple sources (Šalkovska & Ogsta, 2014). A quantitative

methodology includes structured or raw data and statistics to form and test one or more hypotheses for answering research questions (Šalkovska & Ogsta, 2014). Using a mixed methods approach combines qualitative and quantitative methods for addressing a research question (Yin, 2014). A qualitative methodology was most appropriate for this study as there were no variables to compare or examine as within a quantitative or mixed method approach.

For a qualitative study, using an interview method with open-ended questions is advantageous for gathering data (Yin, 2014). Researchers can use a qualitative research method to assist in comprehending and discovering experiences, perspectives, and insights of participants (Lewis, 2015). Using a qualitative exploration procedure facilitates assessing why individuals behave in a particular manner (Yin, 2014). Moreover, employing a qualitative exploration helps researchers analyze points of interest and gather in-depth information (Šalkovska & Ogsta, 2014). Additionally, using a qualitative method enables researchers to elicit experiences, information, opinions, and feelings of participants (McDermid et al., 2014).

An advantage of employing a qualitative approach is that there are no constraints on study participants to foreordained responses (Yin, 2014). A drawback of the qualitative method in regards to collecting data is that it is costly considering the time expected to gather the data (Yin, 2014). Researchers use the qualitative method to study the lived experiences of participants and to interpret the data collected about phenomena (Šalkovska & Ogsta, 2014). A qualitative study approach produces discoveries that are frequently not decisive and are exploratory in nature (Yin, 2014).

Research Design

The four principal research designs for qualitative research include: (a) phenomenology, (b) ethnography, (c) grounded theory, and (d) case study (Petty, Thomson, & Stew, 2012). Researchers use a phenomenological design to explore lived experiences and perspectives of individuals as they experience a phenomenon (Petty et al., 2012). In an ethnographic approach, the researcher observes the lives of the participants by examining rituals, social behaviors, and regularities (Petty et al., 2012). A grounded theory design is most beneficial with an iterative data collection method and analysis to develop theories about social phenomena (Petty et al., 2012). Considering I did not research individual world-views, lived experiences on identifiable concerns, or create common themes as explained by Yin (2014), I decided not to use a phenomenological, ethnographic, or grounded theory design.

A case study design is particularly valuable for exploring real world situations (Lewis, 2015; Yin, 2014). Case studies are in-depth explorations of unique situations; permitting the advancement of further elaboration and future research (Yin, 2014). Employing a case study design helps researchers to explore strategies based on real world circumstances (Lewis, 2015). Yin (2014) clarified that case studies can include various explorations of the same phenomenon within real life context. The sampling method for this study was purposive sampling. Researchers use purposive sampling to ensure the study addresses the business problem (Barratt, Ferris, & Lenton, 2015). Yin wrote the design is what connects the empirical data to the initial research question and

conclusions. Researchers use case studies to collect various types of data—not just interviews—from multiple sources.

I incorporated methodological triangulation by using multiple types of data including interviews and public records from Internet sources. Furthermore, I used bracketing and member checking to assist in ensuring an accurate representation of participants' perspectives. The processes of member checking are beneficial for developing trust between researchers and study participants. Moreover, I continued member checking until saturation was achieved. Limitations of case studies include the inability to generalize findings (Yin, 2014). I conducted this case study research using structured and open-ended interview questions. I initiated with *what* oriented questions and extended to *how* to help develop a more descriptive case study.

Population and Sampling

In a qualitative study, the researcher must decide who and how many participants to include in the study, and what the researcher requires knowing (Cleary, Horsfall, & Hayter, 2014). I chose to use a multiple case study with a population of individuals who satisfied the participant criteria in multiple companies. The industry and study population for this research was marketing managers of firms in the North Texas area that offered marketing services to businesses. For this study, I concentrated on marketing firms and agencies that had various types of consumers in regards to social status, industry type, and brand ubiquity and status. I established relationships with multiple leaders and managers to enhance the trust and increase data collection (McDermid et al., 2014).

Robinson (2014) outlined a sampling approach for qualitative interview-based explorations and noted the principal types of sampling were (a) random selection, (b) quota sampling, (c) accessibility sampling, (d) stratified sampling, and (e) a unique selection strategy. Determining a sample size in qualitative research is reliant on and influenced by practical and theoretical considerations (Robinson, 2014). Robinson further stated that researchers selected sample sizes depending on the quantity of participants the researcher could manage.

The population of the study included one marketing manager from each of five marketing agencies located in North Texas who had demonstrated success in the field of marketing using consumer review strategies. I incorporated methodological triangulation by using multiple types of data including interviews and public records from Internet sources. Additionally, I utilized strategies such as member checking to assist in concluding an accurate representation of participants' views. I continued member checking until achieving data saturation. I cross-checked both between and among the data sources to assure data saturation

Ethical Research

I followed structured procedures and processes to ensure ethical execution of the study. My study conformed to the requirements for minimal risk to satisfy the terms of Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB). The IRB is responsible for developing, adopting, and enforcing guidelines for safety and ethical practices to protect study participants (Wilson, Kieburtz, Holloway, & Kim, 2014).

Participants received a letter explaining the details and intent of the study. The letter also included an attached Informed Consent Form for review and approval by the participant. Informed consent is a manner of obtaining approval from an individual to participate in a research study (Schrems, 2014). The Informed Consent Form included details of questions, processes, and data collection methods used for the study. As recommended by Drake (2013), I informed potential study participants that they could withdraw from the study for any reason including personal commitments, concerns, or disagreements of the results or processes of the study.

The participants could withdraw either by emailing or through telephone. There were no incentives in exchange for study participation. Upon receiving IRB approval, I contacted the participants through telephone and e-mail to confirm and schedule dates to conduct the interviews. Limiting participant risks is vital in research studies (Johnson, 2014). As measures to assure the ethical protection of participants, I did not identify participants involved and the name and exact location of the organization in which the participants work. However, I did inform the participants of potential risks associated with sharing company information and personal opinions as requested by the research questions.

The interview data will remain confidential and safely maintained for 5 years to protect the rights of the participants, and be available to the participants. I only collected publicly available documents and marketing strategies relating to, and consisting of, consumer review knowledge and research. I collected the information from public

information available via company websites and other online media outlets including social media, forums, and directories.

Data Collection Instruments

For this qualitative case study, I was the data collection instrument. Researcher as the instrument alludes to researchers who are active in research processes (Pezalla, Pettigrew, & Miller-Day, 2012). As the instrument, a researcher must use proper judgment to gather and analyze collected research data (Pezalla et al., 2012). To collect data, researchers should develop trust from participants to influence comfort for sharing data and resources (Denzin, 2013).

A good interviewer should have knowledge in the areas of technical and interaction competence (Yin, 2014). As the data collection instrument, researchers can establish relationships with participants while actively observing phenomena (Mansfield, 2013). Interviews are effective methods for researchers seeking to collect data (Hedlund, Börjesson, & Österberg, 2015). Moreover, considering the depth of being the instrument, knowing how to respond to collected data and personal bias are vital (Pezalla et al., 2012). When the researcher is the instrument in a semistructured qualitative interview, personal sentiments can subliminally influence the results of the study (Pezalla et al., 2012).

Reflexivity is a situation in which the researcher influences participants using bias (Yin, 2014). While there were hindrances of being the instrument, such as potential biases, I worked to incorporate all applicable research documentation and not influence personal responses of the participants. To mitigate such biases, Houghton, Casey, Shaw,

and Murphy (2013) recommended using strategies such as member checking to assist in ensuring an accurate representation of participants' views. I used bracketing as suggested by Chan, Fung, and Chien (2013) as a means of putting aside my knowledge and experience to help minimize bias throughout the research process. Researchers should member check to improve the validity and reliability of data (Milosevic, Bass, & Combs, 2015). O'Reilly and Parker (2013) reasoned that researchers use member checking to reduce the probability of unreliable data in a study.

As the data collection instrument, I utilized Google Voice cloud phone for recording the phone call and afterward downloaded the audio file for transcription. I maintained only one audio recording per the protocols outlined for ethical research. I used the interview questions to guide the interviews. Qualitative researchers use semistructured interviews with open-ended questions to collect data (McIntosh & Morse, 2015). Semistructured interviews are ideal for gathering data from a small quantity of participants (Anyan, 2013). I completed semistructured interviews based on open-ended questions, and collected data pertinent to the objective of the research. I used a semistructured interview protocol (Appendix A) to assure the same structure for each participant. Zhou (2013) recommended that researchers use robust data collection methods to ensure validity and reliability.

Data Collection Technique

Researchers can use interview to help generate trustworthy and valid results from collected data (Kallio et al., 2016). A disadvantage of using interviews as a data collection technique is the potential for bias during the planning and analysis phases of

research (Houghton et al., 2013). To mitigate such biases, I used quality assurance processes such as member checking and bracketing to assist in ensuring an accurate representation of participants' views.

I worked toward the data collection phase by contacting select individuals and several organizations to determine the knowledge and availability of each firm. Initially, I contacted potential participants using e-mail to introduce myself and the study. After explaining the research intent through e-mail, I scheduled a phone meeting to discuss the study further. After selecting potential participants, I provided the participants with a demographic survey and consent form. Upon approval of the documents, I scheduled a time and location for each interview. Before each interview, participants received a copy of the questions for review to address potential concerns. As recommended by Bell (2013) and Glover, Jomeen, Urquhart, and Martin (2014), I recorded the interview and used predetermined questions while conducting the interview. During the interview, I applied bracketing and techniques suggested by Hyden (2014), who noted not to include expressions and remarks. While asking follow-up questions, I reemphasized the commitment to maintaining participants' confidentiality and the proprietary nature of the data.

A semistructured interview is beneficial for generating trustworthy and valid results from collected data (Kallio et al., 2016). Qualitative researchers should use semistructured interviews with open-ended questions to collect data (McIntosh & Morse, 2015). Semistructured interviews are ideal for gathering data from participants (Anyan, 2013). I used a semistructured interview protocol (see Appendix A) to assist in the

interview and research process by providing structure for each interview. In addition to the recording of the interview, public data types that I collected included sample strategic planning documentation and historical and marketing data collected from the organization's website and social media pages. After completing the interview, I followed the recommendations of Tellado, Lopez-Calvo, and Alonso-Olea (2014) and transcribed the data before member checking by sharing my interpretation of the interviews with the participants.

After recording the phone call and downloading the audio file for transcription, I maintained only the better version of any recordings per the protocols outlined for ethical research. Additionally, I took notes from observations, thoughts, and collected documentation. Furthermore, I compared my interviews with findings in the literature review to develop a conclusion based on similarities and differences.

Data Organization Technique

The tool I used for quickly searching through and organizing the collected data was NVivo for Mac, which researchers use to effectively import data, and examine imported data. I used the NVivo software to help organize and analyze collected data. Moreover, I used NVivo for transcribing the recorded interviews. I coded the interviews by using NVivo to help place text into categories (Chan, Fung, & Chien, 2013; Pierre & Jackson, 2014). The collected data from the recorded interviews included assigned coding based on the participant, marketing firm, and collection technique. The advantage of using codes is that it enables researchers to organize raw data for understanding a phenomenon (Bell, 2013; Pierre & Jackson, 2014).

I stored data for maintaining integrity of the transcribed interviews, recordings, and backup copies of collected data (Anyan, 2013). I securely retained the data using password-protected folders on encrypted cloud-based servers including Dropbox and iCloud servers while conducting the research. When the research is completed, I will delete the data files from the server including all historical archived copies. As required by the Walden University, I will store all data in the securely encrypted folders for a period of 5 years. After the 5 years, I will delete the files and any archived copies.

Data Analysis

The use of methodological triangulation allows for collecting and comparing findings from multiple types of data (Carter, Bryant-Lukosius, DiCenso, Blythe, & Neville, 2014). Triangulation is a method that encourages developing a thorough comprehension of data (Heale & Forbes, 2013). An advantage of using a triangulation approach is that it aids in affirming data and expanding the credibility of research (Carter et al., 2014; Heale & Forbes, 2013). In this qualitative multiple case study, I incorporated methodological triangulation by using multiple types of data including interviews and public records from Internet sources.

Data analysis involves categorizing, testing evidence, determining a conclusion, and analyzing collected data (Yin, 2014). I completed the data analysis of the transcribed interviews and utilized codes to identify recurring themes. Moreover, I analyzed the themes from the interviews and compared the codes with components from the conceptual framework. I used NVivo for assisting in transcribing data from the

interviews. NVivo is a tool for facilitating qualitative research and organizing and analyzing data relating to interviews, open-ended questions, and the Web.

The tool used for searching through the collected data was NVivo for Mac, which researchers use to effectively import and examine data. Goble et al. (2012) and Yin (2014) proposed that researchers use data analysis to prepare and arrange data into codes and themes. Coding data enables researchers to organize text into categories (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013; Pierre & Jackson, 2014). Furthermore, using codes facilitates researchers indexing raw data for understanding a phenomenon (Marshall & Rossman, 2014; Pierre & Jackson, 2014). The collected data from the recorded interviews included assigned coding based on the participant number and the distinct marketing firm.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability in semistructured interviews is dependent on protocols for assuring dependability and consistency (Foley & O'Conner, 2013). Demonstrating credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability are criteria for assuring validity in qualitative research studies (Kim & Li, 2013). Transferability is when study findings have applicability in other contexts (Erlingsson & Brysiewicz, 2013). Researchers found that there was a connection between dependability and reliability (Munn, Porritt, Lockwood, Aromataris, & Pearson, 2014). Dependability occurs when a researcher can follow and duplicate the results of a previous study (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). Confirmability occurred after demonstrating credibility, transferability, and dependability (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011).

Reliability

Reliability is characterized as a method for assuring the credibility, dependability, and consistency of data not comprising of biases or influences (Noble & Smith, 2015).

Assuring reliability enables the researcher and participant to cultivate a trusting relationship through rapport building (Kim & Li, 2013). Reliability in semistructured interviews is dependent on protocols for developing validity and dependability (Foley & O'Conner, 2013). Moreover, to sustain consistency, the researcher should demonstrate transparency in the research process (Noble & Smith, 2015).

To assure reliability, I conducted a case study that was transparent and clear by following an interview protocol (see Appendix A). Although my industry involvement with the study had potential setbacks including bias, it was possible to conduct research in a well-documented, unbiased manner. To mitigate such biases, I used strategies such as bracketing and member checking to assist in ensuring an accurate representation of participants' views (Houghton et al., 2013; O'Reilly & Parker, 2013). Bracketing is a means of putting aside the researcher's own knowledge and experience to help minimize bias throughout the research process (Chan, Fung, & Chien, 2013). Researchers should use member checking to reduce the probability of unreliable data in a study (O'Reilly & Parker, 2013). The processes of member checking are beneficial for developing trust between researchers and study participants by assuring both reliability and validity (Milosevic et al., 2015).

Validity

In qualitative research studies, (a) credibility, (b) transferability, and (c) confirmability are criteria for assuring a study's validity (Kim & Li, 2013). Transferability is a transfer of knowledge beneficial for future researchers' use and assessment (Yin, 2013). Miles, Huberman, and Saldana (2013) recommended that researchers use confirmability to compare results from related studies using similar protocols. I used confirmability to assist in preventing bias.

Research validity includes credibility, authenticity, and trustworthiness (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). As the data collection instrument, I used protocols amid the research and interview process to assure validity (Houghton, Casey, Shaw, & Murphy, 2013). To mitigate potential inaccuracies in this research, I used strategies including bracketing and member checking to aid in ensuring an accurate representation of participants' views.

Triangulation is a method that assists in acquiring a thorough understanding of data (Heale & Forbes, 2013). In this qualitative multiple case study, I incorporated methodological triangulation by using multiple data types and member checking to demonstrate data saturation. An advantage of using a triangulation approach was to help marketing managers affirm data and demonstrate the credibility of the study (Carter et al., 2014). To ensure that I adhered to proper triangulation and validity methods, after completing the interview and transcribing the results, I utilized bracketing and member checking for assuring the study's accuracy and validity.

Summary and Transition

Section 2 comprised of describing and justifying the design. Additionally, Section 2 included headings describing the (a) purpose statement, (b) role of the researcher, (c) study participants, (d) research methodology and design, (e) population and sampling, (f) ethical research, (g) data collection, (h) data organization, (i) data analysis, and (j) reliability and validity. In Section 3, I provided a presentation of my findings. Section 3 further includes implications for social change, recommendations for action and research, and closes with my reflections stemming from completing the study, and conclusions.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

In this section, I present research findings in addition to recommendations. I additionally discuss how the research findings relate to the review of literature and the conceptual framework. Section 3 includes (a) an overview of the study, (b) presentation of the findings, (c) applications to professional practice, (d) implications for social change, (e) recommendations for action, (f) recommendations for further study, (g) reflections, and (h) summary and conclusions.

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multicase study was to explore the strategies marketing agency managers employed to utilize consumer reviews to effect marketing success, brand awareness, and profitability for their clients. Consumer review knowledge helped marketing managers in the North Texas region develop successful marketing strategies. The selected participants were one marketing manager from each of five marketing agencies. The central research question was: What consumer review strategies do marketing managers use to improve marketing success, brand awareness, and profitability for their clients? The inclusion criteria for the study participants interviewed were: (a) be a marketing manager in a marketing agency located in North Texas who demonstrated success in the field of marketing using consumer review strategies, (b) be at least 18 years of age, and (c) be fluent in English.

I collected data from public online records and by using in-depth semistructured qualitative interviews over a 2-week period. Three themes emerged from the interviews, which were: (a) marketing objective, (b) response, and (c) reputation management.

Analysis of the collected data revealed associated strategies marketing managers used to generate marketing success.

Presentation of the Findings

In this section, I describe the material that I amassed from the collection of data to develop a comprehensive perspective of the study. I incorporated methodological triangulation by using multiple types of data including interviews and public records from Internet sources. The largest amount of data collected came from interviewing participants. I utilized strategies such as member checking to assist in concluding an accurate representation of participants' views. I continued member checking until achieving data saturation. The collected data addressed the overarching research question: What consumer review strategies do marketing managers use to improve marketing success, brand awareness, and profitability for their clients?

I identified three themes by coding the collected data from the public records and interview transcripts. The collection of public records enabled me to analyze and compare the interviews with information found on the participants' companies' websites and social media accounts. I coded the collected data by using NVivo to help identify reoccurring themes (Fielding, Fielding, & Hughes, 2013). Three common themes emerged from the research: (a) marketing objective, (b) response, and (c) reputation management. After identifying the themes, I analyzed the findings in relation to those themes using methodological triangulation, and member checking. I extended knowledge by comparing the findings with published literature. Additionally, I compared and examined the findings to, and within the context of, the conceptual framework.

Themes

I identified three themes that emerged from the interview transcripts and the other data sources. The first theme, marketing objective, included statements regarding the marketing objectives and goals of businesses. The second theme, response, composed of statements regarding how businesses should respond to consumer reviews. The final theme, reputation management, stemmed from the participants' views on how to monitor and manage the effects of consumer reviews.

Theme 1: Marketing Objective

The marketing objective theme relates to the central research question by confirming that the agency and business have an objective or business goal that relates to using marketing strategies to generate marketing success. Marketing agencies that have an objective to enhance brand awareness and profitability for their clients can use consumer reviews to help reach that goal. From interviewing marketing agency managers, I discovered that consumer review management was not a primary service offered by the agencies, with only two participants (40%) noting review management as a direct service provided, while other agencies combined the service within a comprehensive reputation management package.

Businesses typically select a marketing agency based on the services offered by the agency. Researchers recommend using consumer feedback to develop business and consumer relationships (Alameddine, 2013; Bloching, Hennig-Thurau, & Hofacker, 2013). As the agency and business client partner in a relationship, the agency must align its objective with the objective of the business client. Participant 5 stated the objectives of

its agency clients were mainly lead generation, brand awareness, and sales increases. The goal of Participant 3's agency was to administer digital marketing and strategy services to clients. Participant 3's agency worked in the areas of improving brand awareness and helping clients minimize business risks. Participant 1's agency offered digital marketing services, web branding, and optimization. Participant 1 noted that his agency had an objective of improving clients' visibility online and increasing sales and return on investment. Participant 2 worked for an agency which offered digital and traditional advertising and marketing that encompassed television commercials, billboards, online advertising, paid display, public relations, website development, and social media development.

Consumer engagement is critical for business managers seeking to develop brand awareness and increase sales (Colleoni, 2013). In an interview with Participant 2 and Participant 3, the marketing managers agreed that the effect of consumer reviews on marketing success depended on the marketing goals and objectives of the marketing strategy. According to Participant 3, negative consumer reviews affected small businesses significantly more than larger businesses. Consequently, depending upon business size, consumer reviews did not always have a significant influence on a business's profitability. Reviews, whether positive or negative, do not have a significant influence on consumers familiar with a business (Del Rio-Lanza, Suárez-Álvarez, & Vázquez-Casielles, 2013). Participant 4 stated that the goal of their agency was to generate leads and increase sales for their clients, and the effect of consumer reviews is minimal in marketing, similar to a tree in the forest. A review *alone* is not going to gain or lose new

business for a client, but can help to sway a potential consumer to make a decision either positive or negative. Participant 4 added that consumer reviews did not prevent the marketing agency from successfully developing marketing strategies or moving forward on projects.

Engaging with consumers is a strategy recommended by marketing agencies to create a competitive advantage by building relationships with consumers (Algharabat, Alhammad, Al-Hyari, Alnsour, & Al-Weshah, 2013). If the objective of the business is customer acquisition, retention, or brand awareness, then consumer reviews can affect the marketing strategy development. Participant 3 explained that integrating or influencing consumer reviews was not a high priority when considering the complete marketing strategy.

The advancement of the Internet and social media link to disruptive innovation theory by interrupting traditional marketing methods used prior to the Internet (Corsi & Di Minin, 2014). Because of social media, consumer feedback and reviews can quickly reach a broad audience and have an immediate effect on the success of business marketing efforts. Due to the popularity of the Internet, marketing managers have the ability to analyze and predict consumer behaviors by using social networks and reviewing websites (Alameddine, 2013). However, according to Participant 3, the effect of consumer reviews is not as significant as it once was, and business managers should not place a priority on gaining consumer feedback or reviews to help grow their business. Businesses and marketing agencies should spend marketing dollars wisely, so gaining

more reviews is not as important as generating brand awareness through other reliable methods of marketing.

Participant 2 stated that clients had unique marketing objectives determined by the clients' needs. The marketing agency recommended goals that were most appropriate for the client based on the client's objectives. Marketing managers typically analyze consumer feedback and reviews on social networking sites to help strengthen relationships with consumers rather than focus business objectives on generating immediate revenue (Barger & Labrecque, 2013). Participant 4 expressed that reviews were only meaningful for strategy implementation if there were consumer concerns or if the reviews were negative. Otherwise, Participant 4's agency did not consider reviews to be a significant influence in developing marketing strategies.

Marketing strategies should focus on relationship building with consumers to better develop successful strategies for increasing consumer loyalty and sales (Colvin, 2013). An agency is not effectively accomplishing its marketing objective if a client is receiving a significant amount of negative reviews (Participant 5). If the success of a client's business declines, that affects the agency's objective, which could cause the agency to lose the client considering the negative reviews may hinder the client's ability to pay their marketing expenses (Participant 5).

The findings of this study are consistent with data found in the literature review in concluding that consumer feedback and reviews have a significant effect on marketing strategies and business success (Bronner & de Hoog, 2014). Internet and technology created a marketing shift where consumer reviews have a significant influence on the

development and success of businesses (Bacile, Swilley, & Ye, 2014). While the study participants agreed that the effect of consumer reviews on marketing success depended on the marketing goals and objectives of the marketing strategy (Participant 2 & Participant 3), they also expressed that increasing sales was the major objective of their clients. The objective of the clients aligned with the published literature, which demonstrated that the importance of consumer reviews was to increase consumer loyalty and sales (Alameddine, 2013). Brand loyalty and customer satisfaction are forefronts for marketing success through the use of consumer reviews (Barger & Labrecque, 2013).

Theme 2: Response

The second theme stemming from the analysis of study data was how the businesses' marketing plans addressed responding to consumers' reviews. Organizational theory assists in comprehending how businesses can engage with consumers through marketing (Yu & Hang, 2010). Organizational theory can be useful for marketing managers seeking to enhance marketing efforts and productivity by better comprehending consumers. With the popularity of social media and the Internet, consumers have high expectations for businesses to engage and respond quickly to questions and complaints (Labrecque, 2014). The marketing objective is always to leave consumers with a positive feeling about the business and the services provided (Participant 1). It is necessary to know how to engage with consumers to influence positive feedback and relationships (Participant 1). The response by Participant 1 was consistent with published literature. Developing effective correspondence was foremost to accomplishing brand loyalty, which supported the development of positive relationships with consumers and

businesses (Viio & Grönroos, 2014). Consumers use social networks to post reviews, and they expect businesses to respond to their concerns (Bacile, Hoffacker, & White, 2014). Participant 5 recommended that marketing strategies outline a response plan to counter potential negative reviews. Being prepared and having the ability to identify problems before they affect the marketing objective is critical to marketing success (Participant 5).

Participant 4 stated that its agency worked as a team to monitor and respond to consumer reviews. To monitor consumer reviews, Participant 5 noted that its agency maintained internal and external support staff for identifying consumer reviews. As agency employees and clients monitored negative consumer reviews, the agency worked through the conflict with the client, and in some cases the reviewer to address concerns. Participant 5 further stated that the agency prioritized addressing negative reviews to prevent the negativity from expanding across social networks.

When responding to consumer reviews, the objective of the business managers should concentrate on making certain the message is positive, the matter is resolved, and the consumer is satisfied with the outcome (Boo & Kim, 2013; Daugherty & Hoffman, 2013; Xia, 2013). According to Participant 2, considering most consumer reviews are on digital media networks, the individual responsible for responding to customer reviews should have cognitive writing skills and a good compass for creating appropriate responses. Researchers found that 72% of consumers wrote negative reviews with the expectation that businesses would respond and take responsibility (Gurău, 2012). According to Participant 3, empathy, compassion, and having the ability to relate are the primary characteristics needed of an effective review responder. Participant 2 believed

that responses should be prepared in advance to prevent the client or agency from scrambling for a response at the last minute. The team of responders who should help prepare the proper responses includes the customer service department, social media managers, and public relations employees.

Consumers use business responses as a method for better understanding businesses (Xia, 2013). How to respond to a review is dependent on the type of review received (Participant 1). If the response is negative, in addition to replying, the responder could communicate with the reviewer via phone or e-mail to quickly resolve the issue. Participant 2 stated the best course of action was to respond tactfully and in a timely manner and then work with the business client to prevent future problems or concerns from occurring. When a consumer writes a review, businesses should respond promptly with a quality resolution to the consumer's concern (Gurău, 2012). Businesses should respond promptly to negative reviews to prevent consumers from posting the review elsewhere and sharing it with other consumers (Barger & Labrecque, 2013). In addition to empathy, compassion, and problem solving, Participant 3 noted that the responder should have the ability to investigate and satisfy the consumer's issues. Participant 5 recommended using platforms to monitor and engage with reviewers.

Theme 3: Reputation Management

Reputation management relates to the central research question by identifying methods business managers can use to engage with consumers, which could affect the business's reputation and marketing success. Gaining positive consumer reviews for businesses is critical for marketing success. Reputation managers have the responsibility

of responding to negative consumer reviews (Gensler, Völckner, Wiertz, & Yuping, 2013). To generate marketing success, reputation management is necessary to develop positive brand reputation, which can enhance sales (Participant 4). Participant 5 offered various strategies when handling reputation management, which included a moderated review widget that their agency installed on all client websites that enabled consumers to leave reviews and feedback.

The development of the Internet aligns with disruptive innovation theory, where the Internet disrupted traditional marketing and communication methods previously used by businesses to connect with consumers. With the disruption of the Internet and social media, consumer feedback and reviews have the ability to reach a broad audience and have an immediate impact on the success of business marketing efforts (Song et al., 2014). The Internet has provided businesses and consumers an opportunity to instantly communicate, which is beneficial for organizations seeking to increase brand awareness and improve customer support (Gensler, Völckner, Wiertz, & Yuping, 2013). Marketing managers cannot control consumer reviews or where or when consumers write them. Consequently, it is imperative that marketers continually monitor and manage their social networks (Henke, 2013). In maintaining the reputation of its clients, Participant 5's agency created an automated system to e-mail the reviewer and request that they post the review on other social media networks, which could help expand the size of the population's exposure to positive reviews. The posted opinions of consumers on social media and how businesses connect with those consumers can aid in generating brand awareness and marketing success (Participant 4).

When managing the reputation of brands, the individual responsible should understand how to finesse and empathize with reviewers (Participant 1), which is an organizational theory strategy. Historical data show that consumer reviews have always played a significant role in influencing purchasing decisions (Participant 5). Benefits of consumer reviews include the ability to gain insights into consumers' perceptions and behaviors. Participant 1 agreed that the most important aspect of reviews was receiving the opinion and feedback of the consumer whether positive or negative. Participant 5 referred to consumer reviews as *one leg* on a *three-legged bar stool*, where all the legs were essential in generating marketing success. By combining consumers' insights and knowledge with other marketing methods, businesses could achieve marketing success.

In response to determining the management of consumer reviews, Participant 2 suggested not ignoring the opinions of consumers, which aligned with current literature which found that businesses should never leave positive or negative consumer reviews unanswered (Canhoto & Kietzmann, 2013). Reviews are free pathways for gaining insights into consumers' perspectives compared to incentives, surveys, and focus groups (Participant 2). Researchers have reported that unlike positive reviews, negative reviews had a greater likelihood of generating negative emotions and business perceptions (Boo & Kim, 2013; del Río-Lanza, 2013). Reputation managers should have crisis management training for comprehending the proper steps for knowing how to de-escalate emotional situations that drive to the heart of the consumer's issues without the manager being emotionally invested (Participant 5). No matter the ranking or quality of the review, the manager should listen to the concerns of the reviewer, address the issues, and

prevent consumer dissatisfaction from happening in the future (Participant 2 & Participant 4). When consumers write reviews, particularly negative reviews, they expect a response from the business that they are reviewing (Bacilli, Hoffacker, & White, 2014; Bacile, Swilley, & Ye, 2014). Acknowledging consumer reviews could benefit the marketing strategy by gaining insights into unforeseen problems within the company (Participant 4).

Review credibility. Review credibility is important, particularly in situations where reviews are clearly untrue (Participant 1). Determining review credibility relates to the central research question by evaluating whether the notoriety of the reviewer or authenticity of the reviewer's content influenced the review's value. Knowing which platform on which consumers prefer to express their views is essential for monitoring reviews (Participant 5). There are specific review sites for every industry, and the agency and client must determine the value of the review based on the credibility of the reviewer and the location of the review (Participant 5).

The Internet has provided consumers an easy means of communicating and sharing experiences with products, services, and businesses (Bacile, Swilley, & Ye, 2014). When a consumer posts a review, there are three groups affected: the consumer, the sharer, and the subscribers of the consumer and sharer (Rui, Shi, & Whinston, 2014). Participant 3 stated that consumer reviews were not as influential as they were a few years ago, and consumers were now more likely to ask and seek the opinion of friends, family, and groups that they follow rather than those of strangers.

Consumers are aware of *artificial* reviews, and according to Participant 3 and Participant 5, business managers frequently try to catalyze positive reviews. Additionally, review platforms including Yelp are influencing and authorizing unauthenticated reviews, which was a concern of all study participants. Determining the credibility and affects of review platforms aligned with current literature, which suggested that manipulated reviews on review websites could unduly damage the reputation of businesses (Heydari, ali Tavakoli, Salim, & Heydari, 2015). The Yelp platform contains an algorithm that automatically determines which reviews are "most useful" without actually authenticating the reviews (Participant 5). Yelp has no verification process as to whether the reviewer participated in any transaction with the business, which enables fraudulent reviews by Yelp users and business competitors (Participant 4 & Participant 5).

Participant 2 stated that its agency did not actively manage reviews for its clients. Additionally, the agency did not influence positive reviews because it believes in respecting and trusting the integrity of consumer reviews. Participant 4 noted that many of their clients did not see value in asking consumers for reviews. Consumer reviews on social networks affect unknown numbers of followers and individuals (Boo & Kim, 2013). Participant 5's agency used an automated system where businesses could upload a list of their clientele and have an e-mail sent to the recipients. The goal of the e-mail was to encourage and incentivize past consumers to leave reviews. The method employed by Participant 5's agency directly contrasted with practices used by Participant 4, who noted that the objective of their marketing agency was not to influence clients' reviews through promotional methods.

Influencer marketing. Consumer feedback and reviews are influential and can affect how consumers engage with businesses (Daugherty & Hoffman, 2013). The influence of a review is dependent on the value the review reader places on the individual posting the review (Participant 3). Potential consumers can use consumer reviews to prequalify businesses by gaining insights into business ethics, products, and services offered (Participant 5). For reviews to be influential, the review must be honest, credible, and written by actual consumers and not the business's marketing department (del Rio-Lanza, Suárez-Álvarez, & Vázquez-Casielles, 2013). However, the effect of Influencer marketing is ending as consumers have come to realize that businesses can affect the selection of reviews as a marketing tactic (Participant 3).

Marketing automation. Some businesses and marketing agencies use software and automated systems to manage brand reputation and responses to consumer reviews (Labrecque, 2014). Businesses use automated software for responding to consumer reviews on social networks using a technology that deciphers human text and provides a response to the reviewer (Labrecque, 2014). Technology has significant benefits for enhancing business and consumer relationships. However, consumers do not prefer automated responses because it makes consumers feel that the issue was not resolved satisfactorily (Labrecque, 2014).

Negative reviews. Responding effectively to consumer reviews can influence consumers' perceptions of the business, which can increase consumer loyalty and sales (Colvin, 2013). Participant 2 stated that their agency placed a priority on responding to reviews that were negative. However, negative reviews were not a primary driver for

whether the marketing objective was accomplished (Participant 2). Negative reviews create potential communication issues between the business and the reviewer, and the business manager should use those reviews to resolve communication issues (Participant 2). In evaluating the effect of consumer reviews, Participant 4 referenced an instance where negative reviews caused the agency to recommend a business client change their business name. The number of negative reviews was so extensive that the agency believed rebranding and restructuring the business was the best solution, which demonstrated the potential extent to which consumer reviews can affect a business's success.

Marketing managers should prioritize negative reviews, consumer feedback, and consumer sentiment when seeking to develop a successful marketing strategy (Participant 5). Consumer reviews can significantly influence potential consumers of a company (del Rio-Lanza et al., 2013). When negative reviews spread to potential consumers, a business's reputation can be negatively affected (Boo & Kim, 2013). From an overall brand perspective, negative reviewers could hinder brand awareness by creating consumer doubt, which can decrease leads and referrals (Participant 5).

Monitoring reviews. Researchers use organizational theory to identify how businesses can prevent and solve problems to increase efficiency and productivity. The findings from this study aligned with organizational theory since the data confirmed consumer reviews helped identify marketing problems that affected organizational success. Consumer reviews often cause negative effects on the efficiency and

productivity of organizations. Communication and consumers' perceptions play a key role in influencing corporate practice and organizational efficiency (Chess, 2001).

Monitoring social networks for consumer reviews enables businesses to develop consumer relationships, which can enhance the business's reputation and value (Bruce & Solomon, 2013). Participant 4 and Participant 5 agreed there was a need to regularly monitor networks that promoted reviews. Consumer reviews can require an immediate need to respond, particularly when working toward preventing negative reviews from influencing potential consumers (Participant 2). Considering the potential effects of consumer reviews, the agencies of Participant 2 and Participant 5 offered services for monitoring social media networks for reviews.

To monitor and identify consumer reviews, Participant 5's agency used a review monitoring tool that enabled the agency to acknowledge positive reviewers and perform conflict resolution for negative reviews. When a consumer writes and posts a review, the review has the possibility to spread to a larger audience (Bacile, Hoffacker, & White, 2014). Participant 2 stated that there were services including Bazaar Voice and Yelp that helped with monitoring consumer reviews. Business managers should use review monitoring tools when appropriate for handling crisis management, which can include conflict resolution for negative reviews or other tools for sharing positive reviews (Participant 5).

Applications to Professional Practice

The findings stemmed from this study could offer marketing managers strategies that could help better engage with consumers through the use of consumer reviews.

Marketing managers can benefit from this study by increasing their knowledge and effectiveness in consumer engagement and understanding of consumer reviews. The findings of this study could provide marketing managers with successful concepts to use when developing business marketing strategies containing consumer reviews. Marketing managers and consultants, particularly those within the online and advertising industry, can benefit from research related to this study by generating marketing success, brand awareness, and profitability for clients by providing insights for understanding and managing consumer behavior and opinion.

The participants' responses in this study lead to the following recommendations for marketing managers seeking to utilize consumer reviews to affect marketing success, brand awareness, and profitability for their clients: (a) continually monitor and respond to consumer reviews, (b) focus on relationship building with consumers, (c) when responding to reviews, ensure that the message is positive, the matter is resolved, and the customer is satisfied with the results, (d) work with business leaders to prepare messages in advance to ensure appropriate responses, and (e) use consumer reviews to resolve organizational issues and develop relationships.

Implications for Social Change

In alignment with disruptive innovation theory and organizational theory, reflecting on the findings from this study can enable businesses to identify market trends by providing insights into current methods for solving marketing problems and improving marketing efficiency and productivity by better comprehending and using consumer reviews. By developing successful consumer review strategies and increasing

profitability, businesses can positively affect beneficial societal and community change by generating more jobs, enhancing communities, and benefiting the local economy. A vibrant economy could enhance the standard of living of residents.

Relationships with consumers are essential for businesses that desire to improve sales and create or maintain a positive brand reputation (Dwesar & Rao, 2014). The findings and recommendations from this study could also contribute to social change by identifying potential opportunities or problem areas and help businesses and consumers build better relationships. Positive relationships with consumers are essential for businesses that desire to improve sales and create or maintain a positive brand reputation (Dwesar & Rao, 2014). The findings of this study can also contribute to social change by demonstrating the need for marketing agencies to identify and address marketing trends and technology for improving the methods by which consumers communicate with businesses and followers.

Recommendations for Action

The purpose of this qualitative multicase study was to explore the strategies marketing agency managers employed to utilize consumer reviews to generate marketing success, brand awareness, and profitability for their clients. Business managers should concentrate on comprehending consumer behavior processes by adequately engaging with consumers (Sargunani & Bruce, 2015). Considering the influence of consumer reviews on business development and profitability, marketing managers should fully comprehend how to capitalize from feedback and reviews expressed by consumers (Cui et al., 2012).

In situations where consumer reviews are important, marketing managers should monitor review networks, effectively respond and resolve consumer concerns, and prevent future problems or concerns from occurring. Considering the potential effects of the Internet and social media, marketing managers should develop marketing strategies that address consumers' expectations and needs. Also, marketing strategies should define and evaluate methods for communicating with consumers and responding to consumer concerns. By focusing on customer satisfaction, businesses can enhance relationships with consumers, which positively affect brand awareness, profitability, and marketing success.

I intend to use the findings of this research in my businesses, including addressing the strategies for the development for my clients. Additionally, I intend to use this data as a business consultant in developing training materials and content relating to addressing consumers' behaviors and insights.

Recommendations for Further Research

Vernon-Dotson (2013) defined limitations as implied vulnerabilities and circumstances out of the researcher's control. The primary limitations of this study included the population size of case participants. I had not considered the viewpoint of the director of operations, sales manager, or employees who are responsible for corresponding directly with consumers. Furthermore, the geographical area was limited to the North Texas area. Additional limitations included the data collection method of using public records and conducting interviews with marketing managers. To address the limitations of this study, future researchers should conduct a study on a larger

geographical area and compare the data collected from this study. Additional research should address how businesses can have negative reviews removed. Furthermore, I recommend conducting a quantitative design to determine the extent to which customers with negative experiences are likely to purchase again from the company.

The data collected for this study contribute to existing literature of consumer related feedback and reviews in the field of marketing. While there is literature of consumer reviews, no extensive literature exists regarding the integration of consumer reviews in business marketing strategies. Findings, conclusions, and recommendations from this study will contribute to the existing literature through addressing the impact that consumer reviews have on developing successful marketing strategies that can help generate marketing success, brand awareness, and profitability. Chuang, Lin, and Wu (2014), De Maeyer (2012), and Wang (2014) conducted comparable studies concerning consumer reviews and business development. This qualitative multiple case study provides additional perspectives on the existing literature. Once in ProQuest, the data from this study may likewise help other student researchers.

Reflections

I found the doctoral study process challenging in addition to exciting and rewarding. As a business consultant, I had a previous interest in consumers based on my beliefs and experience, which has shown that the opinion of consumers was critical to generating marketing success, brand awareness, and profitability. My findings from this study demonstrated the significance of consumer perceptions and why maintaining a

positive relationship with consumers is important for businesses' growth and profitability.

Prior to conducting the research, my objective was to find ways in which marketers could use the opinion of consumers to develop successful methods for enhancing a brand's reputation and generating revenue. I had believed that the opinion of consumers was critical to marketing success. After conducting the research, I concluded that consumer reviews are important, but the reviews' level of importance is dependent on specific marketing objectives. Consumer reviews are most important when the objective of the marketing strategy is to increase customer acquisition, retention, and brand reputation.

Conclusion

The purpose of this multicase study was to explore the strategies marketing agency managers employed to utilize consumer reviews to affect marketing success, brand awareness, and profitability for their clients. The study consisted of data collected from public online records and semistructured telephone interviews with marketing agency managers. The results stemming from the data revealed the potential importance and relevance of integrating consumer feedback for developing successful marketing strategies.

Thematic analysis of the collected data revealed that successful marketing managers (a) monitored social media and review networks, (b) responded to and resolved consumer concerns, and (c) prevented future problems or concerns from occurring. The results of the study not only identified the importance of consumer reviews to businesses,

but also the potential importance of using consumer reviews to build business and consumer relationships.

References

- Abrantes, J., Seabra, C., Lages, C., & Jayawardhena, C. (2013). Drivers of in-group and out-of-group electronic word-of-mouth (eWOM). *European Journal of Marketing*, 47, 1067-1088. doi:10.1108/03090561311324219
- Adams, D. P., & Miles, T. P. (2013). The application of Belmont Report principles to policy development. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, *39*(12), 16-21. doi:10.3928/00989134-20131028-07
- Agnihotri, R., Dingus, R., Hu, M. Y., & Krush, M. T. (2015). Social media: Influencing customer satisfaction in B2B sales. *Industrial Marketing Management*, *53*, 172-180. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.09.003
- Ahrens, J., Coyle, J. R., & Strahilevitz, M. A. (2013). Electronic word of mouth: The effects of incentives on e-referrals by senders and receivers. *European Journal of Marketing*, 47, 1034-1051. doi:10.1108/03090561311324192
- Akdeniz, B., Calantone, R. J., & Voorhees, C. M. (2013). Effectiveness of marketing cues on consumer perceptions of quality: The moderating roles of brand reputation and third-party information. *Psychology & Marketing*, *30*, 76-89. doi:10.1002/mar.20590
- Alameddine, A. (2013). Perceptions of executives from seven selected companies of the use of social media in marketing practices. (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses. (AAT 3592694)
- Algharabat, R., Alhammad, F., Al-Hyari, K., Alnsour, M. S., & Al-Weshah, G. A., (2013). Electronic networks and relationship marketing: Qualitative evidence

- from Jordanian travel agencies. *Journal of Relationship Marketing*, *12*, 261-279. doi:10.1080/15332667.2013.846245
- Anyan, F. (2013). The influence of power shifts in data collection and analysis stages: A focus on qualitative research interview. *Qualitative Report*, 18(18), 1-9. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/sss/QR/index.html
- Aral, S. (2014). The problem with online ratings. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 55(2), 2-9. Retrieved from http://sloanreview.mit.edu
- Arnett, D. B., & Wittmann, C. M. (2014). Improving marketing success: The role of tacit knowledge exchange between sales and marketing. *Journal of Business Research*, 67, 324-331. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2013.01.018
- Babic, A., Sotgiu, F., de Valck, K., & Bijmolt, T. H. (2015). The effect of electronic word of mouth on sales: A meta-analytic review of platform, product, and metric factors. *Journal of Marketing Research*, *53*, 297-318. doi:10.1509/jmr.14.0380
- Bacile, T. J., Swilley, E., & Ye, C. (2014). From firm-controlled to consumer-contributed: Consumer co-production of personal media marketing communication. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 28, 117-133. doi:10.1016/j.intmar.2013.12.001
- Bacile, T., Hoffacker, C., & White, A. (2014). Emerging challenges in social media.

 *International Journal of Integrated Marketing Communications, 6, 34-51.

 *Retrieved at http://www.ijimc.com/

- Baek, H., Ahn, J., & Choi, Y. (2012). Helpfulness of online consumer reviews: Readers' objectives and review cues. *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 17, 99-126. doi:10.2753/jec1086-4415170204
- Baker, A. M., Donthu, N., & Kumar, V. (2015). Investigating how word of mouth conversations about brands influence purchase and retransmission intentions.

 *Journal of Marketing Research, 53, 225-239. doi:10.1509/jmr.14.0099
- Bambauer-Sachse, S., & Mangold, S. (2013). Do consumers still believe what is said in online product reviews? A persuasion knowledge approach. *Journal of Retailing* and Consumer Services, 20, 373-381. doi:10.1016/j.iretconser.2013.03.004
- Barger, V. A., & Labrecque, L. I. (2013). An integrated marketing communications perspective on social media metrics. *International Journal of Integrated*Marketing Communications, 5, 64-76. Retrieved from http://www.ijimc.com/
- Barnes, N. G. (2014). Social commerce emerges as big brands position themselves to turn "follows"," likes" and" pins" into sales. *American Journal of Management*, *14*(4), 11-18. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com/ajmopen.html
- Barnes, N. G., & Jacobsen, S. L. (2014). Missed eWOM opportunities: A cross-sector analysis of online monitoring behavior. *Journal of Marketing Communications*, 20, 147-158. doi:10.1080/13527266.2013.797788
- Barratt, M. J., Ferris, J. A., & Lenton, S. (2015). Hidden populations, online purposive sampling, and external validity taking off the blindfold. *Field Methods*, 27, 3-21. doi:10.1177/1525822x14526838

- Baum, D., & Spann, M. (2014). The interplay between online consumer reviews and recommender systems: An experimental analysis. *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 19, 129-162. doi:10.2753/jec1086-4415190104
- Bell, K. (2013). Participants' motivations and co-construction of the qualitative research process. *Qualitative Social Work, 12*, 523-539. doi:10.1177/1473325011429020
- Bettencourt, L. A., Blocker, C. P., Houston, M. B., & Flint, D. J. (2015). Rethinking customer relationships. *Business Horizons*, *58*, 99-108. doi:10.1016/j.bushor.2014.09.003
- Bjerrisgaard, S. M., & Kjeldgaard, D. (2013). How market research shapes market spatiality: A global governmentality perspective. *Journal of Macromarketing*, *33*, 29-40. doi:10.1177/0276146712462891
- Bloching, B., Hennig-Thurau, T., & Hofacker, C. F., (2013). Marketing the pinball way:

 Understanding how social media change the generation of value for consumers
 and companies. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 27, 237-241.

 doi:10.1016/j.intmar.2013.09005
- Boo, S., & Kim, J. (2013). Comparison of negative ewom intention: An exploratory study. *Journal of Quality Assurance in Hospitality & Tourism*, 14, 24-48. doi:10.1080/1528008X.2013.749381
- Böttger, T., Emrich, O., Lee, L., & Rudolph, T. (2015). Individualized lifestyle marketing: A field-experiment. *Inspiration in Marketing: Foundations, Process, and Application*, 98-103. Retrieved from http://www1.unisg.ch

- Brake, D. R. (2014). Are we all online content creators now? Web 2.0 and digital divides.

 Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication, 19, 591-609.

 doi:10.1111/jcc4.12042
- Bronner, F., & de Hoog, R. (2014). Social media and consumer choice. *International Journal of Market Research*, 56, 51-71. doi:10.2501/IJMR-2013-053
- Bruce, M., & Solomon, M. R. (2013). Managing for media anarchy: A corporate marketing perspective. *Journal of Marketing Theory & Practice*, 21, 307-318. doi:10.2753/MTP1069-6679210305
- Canhoto, A., & Kietzmann, J., (2013). Bittersweet! Understanding and managing electronic word of mouth. *Journal of Public Affairs* (14723891), 13, 146-159. doi:10.1002/pa.1470
- Caniëls, M. C., Lenaerts, H. K., & Gelderman, C. J. (2015). Explaining the internet usage of SMEs: The impact of market orientation, behavioural norms, motivation and technology acceptance. *Internet Research*, 25, 358-377. doi:10.1108/intr-12-2013-0266
- Cantallops, A. S., & Salvi, F. (2014). New consumer behavior: A review of research on eWOM and hotels. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, *36*, 41-51. doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2013.08.007
- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41, 545-547. doi:10.1188/14.onf.545-547

- Chan, Z. C., Fung, Y. L., & Chien, W. T. (2013). Bracketing in phenomenology: Only undertaken in the data collection and analysis process. *The Qualitative Report*, 18(30), 1. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR18/chan59.pdf
- Chen, F., Deng, P., Wan, J., Zhang, D., Vasilakos, A. V., & Rong, X. (2015). Data mining for the internet of things: Literature review and challenges. *International Journal of Distributed Sensor Networks*, 2015, 12-26. doi:10.1155/2015/431047
- Chen, X., Vorvoreanu, M., & Madhavan, K. P. (2014). Mining social media data for understanding students' learning experiences. *Learning Technologies, IEEE Transactions on Learning Technologies*, 7, 246-259. doi:10.1109/tlt.2013.2296520
- Chess, C. (2001). Organizational theory and the stages of risk communication. *Risk Analysis*, 21, 179-188. doi:10.1111/0272-4332.211100
- Cheung, C. M., & Lee, M. K. (2012). What drives consumers to spread electronic word of mouth in online consumer-opinion platforms. *Decision Support Systems*, *53*, 218-225. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2012.01.015
- Chong, A. Y. L., Ch'ng, E., Liu, M. J., & Li, B. (2015). Predicting consumer product demands via Big Data: The roles of online promotional marketing and online reviews. *International Journal of Production Research*, 1-15. doi:10.1080/00207543.2015.1066519
- Chuang, S. H., Lin, H. N., & Wu, C. P. (2014). The influence of online product reviews on consumer purchase intentions: The moderating roles of cognitive need and

- product knowledge. *Management Review*, *33*, 117-120. Retrieved from http://management-review.org/
- Cleary, M., Horsfall, J., & Hayter, M. (2014). Data collection and sampling in qualitative research: Does size matter? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70, 473-475. doi:10 .1111/jan.12163
- Colleoni, E. (2013). CSR communication strategies for organizational legitimacy in social media. *Corporate Communications: An International Journal*, *18*, 228-248. doi:10.1108/13563281311319508
- Colvin, D. A. (2013). Effect of social media as measured by the dispersion of electronic word-of-mouth on the sales success of experience goods: An empirical study of Kindle book sales. (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses. (AAT 3569900)
- Corsi, S., & Di Minin, A. (2014). Disruptive innovation... in reverse: Adding a geographical dimension to disruptive innovation theory. *Creativity & Innovation Management*, 23, 76-90. doi:10.1111/caim.12043
- Cui, G., Lui, H., & Guo, X. (2012). The effect of online consumer reviews on new product sales. *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 17, 39-58. doi:10.2753/jec1086-4415170102
- Danielsen, F., Jensen, P. M., Burgess, N. D., Coronado, I., Holt, S., Poulsen, M. K., ...

 Pirhofer-Walzl, K. (2014). Testing focus groups as a tool for connecting
 indigenous and local knowledge on abundance of natural resources with science-

- based land management systems. *Conservation Letters*, 7, 380-389. doi:10.1111/conl.12100
- Daugherty, T., & Hoffman, E. (2013). eWOM and the importance of capturing consumer attention within social media. *Journal of Marketing Communications*, 20, 82-102. doi:10.1080/13527266.2013.797764
- De Maeyer, P. (2012). Impact of online consumer reviews on sales and price strategies: A review and directions for future research. *Journal of Product & Brand Management*, 21, 132-139. doi:10.1108/10610421211215599
- del Río-Lanza, A. B., Suárez-Álvarez, L., & Vázquez-Casielles, R., (2013). The word of mouth dynamic: How positive (and negative) wom drives purchase probability:

 An analysis of interpersonal and non-interpersonal factors. *Journal of Advertising Research*, *53*, 43-60. doi:10.2501/JAR-53-1-043-060
- Denzin, N. K. (2013). Performing methodologies. *Qualitative Social Work, 12*, 389-394. doi:10.1177/1473325013493533
- Drake, G. (2013). The ethical and methodological challenges of social work research with participants who fear retribution: to "do no harm." *Qualitative Social Work*, 13, 304-319. doi:10.1177/1473325012473499
- Dwesar, R., & Rao, V. (2014). The skeptic consumer: Is information presented through advertisement and online reviews perceived differently. *Asia Pacific Marketing Review*, 3(1), 19-29. Retrieved from http://asiapacific.edu

- Dworkin, S. L. (2012). Sample size policy for qualitative studies using in-depth interviews. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 41(6), 1319-1320. doi:10.1007/s10508-012-0016-6
- Erlingsson, C., & Brysiewicz, P. (2013). Orientation among multiple truths: An introduction to qualitative research. *African Journal of Emergency Medicine*, *3*, 92-99. doi:10.1016/j.afjem.2012.04.005
- Erragcha, N., & Romdhane, R. (2014). Social networks as marketing tools. *Journal of Internet Banking & Commerce*, 19, 1-12. Retrieved from http://www.arraydev.com/commerce/jibc/
- Fan, Y. W., Miao, Y. F., Fang, Y. H., & Lin, R. Y. (2013). Establishing the adoption of electronic word-of-mouth through consumers' perceived credibility. *International Business Research*, 6. doi:10.5539/ibr.v6n3p58
- Flanagin, A. J., Metzger, M. J., Pure, R., Markov, A., & Hartsell, E. (2014). Mitigating risk in ecommerce transactions: Perceptions of information credibility and the role of user-generated ratings in product quality and purchase intention. *Electronic Commerce Research*, *14*, 1-23. doi:10.1007/s10660-014-9139-2
- Fielding, J., Fielding, N., & Hughes, G. (2013). Opening up open-ended survey data using qualitative software. *Quality & Quantity*, 47, 3261-3276. doi:10.1007/s11135-012-9716-1
- Foley, D., & O'Connor, A. J. (2013). Social capital and networking practices of indigenous entrepreneurs. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 51, 276-296. doi:10.1111/jsbm.12017

- Gensler, S., Völckner, F., Wiertz, C., & Yuping L., (2013). Managing brands in the social media environment. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 27, 242-256. doi:10.1016/j.intmar.2013.09.004
- Glover, L., Jomeen, J., Urquhart, T., & Martin, C. R. (2014). Puerperal psychosis a qualitative study of women's experiences. *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology*, 32(3), 254-269. doi:10.1080/02646838.2014.883597
- Goble, E., Austin, W., Larsen, D., Kreitzer, L., & Brintnell S. (2012). Habits of mind and the split-mind effect: When computer-assisted qualitative data analysis software is used in phenomenological research. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 13, 1-22. Retrieved from http://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php
- Golafshani, N. (2003). Understanding reliability and validity in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 8(4), 597-606. doi:10.1177/1468794111422107
- Griskevicius, V., & Kenrick, D. T. (2013). Fundamental motives: How evolutionary needs influence consumer behavior. *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 23, 372-386. doi:10.1016/j.jcps.2013.03.003
- Gruber, V., & Schlegelmilch, B. B. (2014). How techniques of neutralization legitimize norm-and attitude-inconsistent consumer behavior. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 121, 29-45. doi:10.1007/s10551-013-1667-5
- Gurău, C. (2012). Solving customer complaints: A study of multiple commercial settings.

 Annals of the University of Oradea, Economic Science Series, 21, 827-833.

 Retrieved from http://anale.steconomiceuoradea.ro

- Hansen, S. S., Lee, J. K., & Lee, S. Y. (2014). Consumer-generated ads on Youtube:

 Impacts of source credibility and need for cognition on attitudes, interactive behaviors, and eWom. *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, *15*, 254.

 Retrieved from http://www.jecr.org/
- Heale, R., & Forbes, D. (2013). Understanding triangulation in research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 16, 98. doi:10.1136/eb-2013-101494
- Hedlund, E., Börjesson, B., & Österberg, J. (2015). Team learning in a multinational military staff exercise. *Small Group Research*, *46*, 179-203. doi:10.1177/1046496414568462
- Henke, L. L. (2013). Breaking through the clutter: The impact of emotions and flow on viral marketing. *Academy of Marketing Studies Journal*, 17, 111–118. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org
- Heydari, A., ali Tavakoli, M., Salim, N., & Heydari, Z. (2015). Detection of review spam: A survey. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 42, 3634-3642. doi:10.1016/j.eswa.2014.12.029
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigour in qualitative casestudy research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20, 12-17. doi:10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326
- Hu, N., Bose, I., Koh, N. S., & Liu, L. (2012). Manipulation of online reviews: An analysis of ratings, readability, and sentiments. *Decision Support Systems*, 52, 674-684. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2011.11.002
- Hyden, M. (2014). The teller-focused interview: Interviewing as a relational practice.

 *Qualitative Social Work, 13(6), 795-812. doi:10.1177/1473325013506247

- Jabr, W., & Zhiqiang, Z. (2014). Know yourself and know your enemy: An analysis of firm recommendations and consumer reviews in a competitive environment. MIS Quarterly, 38, 635-654. Retrieved from http://misq.org
- Jin, S. A. A., & Phua, J. (2014). Following celebrities' tweets about brands: The impact of twitter-based electronic word-of-mouth on consumers' source credibility perception, buying intention, and social identification with celebrities. *Journal of Advertising*, 43, 181-195. doi:10.1080/00913367.2013.827606
- Johnson, B. (2014). Ethical issues in shadowing research. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal*, 9, 21-40. doi:10.1108/QROM-09-2012-1099
- Jolley, J. M., & Mitchell, M. L. (2010). Research design explained (7th ed.). Boston, MA: Wadsworth.
- Jussila, J. J., Kärkkäinen, H., & Aramo-Immonen, H. (2014). Social media utilization in business-to-business relationships of technology industry firms. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *30*, 606-613. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2013.07.047
- Kacen, J. J., Hess, J. D., & Chiang, W. Y. K. (2013). Bricks or clicks? Consumer attitudes toward traditional stores and online stores. Global Economics and Management Review, 18, 12-21. doi:10.1016/s2340-1540(13)70003-3
- Kallio, H., Pietilä, A. M., Johnson, M., & Kangasniemi, M. (2016). Systematic methodological review: Developing a framework for a qualitative semi-structured interview guide. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 72, 2954-2965.
 doi:10.1111/jan.13031

- Kietzmann, J., & Canhoto, A. (2013). Bittersweet! Understanding and managing electronic word of mouth. *Journal of Public Affairs*, *13*, 146-159. doi:10.1002/pa.1470
- Kim, D., & Li, X. R. (2013). Introduction to the special issue on advancing research methods in marketing: Editorial. *Journal of Business Research*, 66, 1243-1244. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2012.02.019
- Korfiatis, N., García-Bariocanal, E., & Sánchez-Alonso, S. (2012). Evaluating content quality and helpfulness of online product reviews: The interplay of review helpfulness vs. review content. *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 11, 205-217. doi:10.1016/j.elerap.2011.10.003
- Krishna, A., & Schwarz, N. (2014). Sensory marketing, embodiment, and grounded cognition: Implications for consumer behavior. *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 24(2), 159-168. doi:10.1016/j.jcps.2012.03.004
- Kugler, L. (2014). Keeping online reviews honest. *Communications of the ACM*, 57(11), 20-23. doi:10.1145/2667111
- Labrecque, L. I. (2014). Fostering consumer—brand relationships in social media environments: The role of parasocial interaction. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 28, 134-148. doi:10.1016/j.intmar.2013.12.003
- Labrecque, L. I., vor dem Esche, J., Mathwick, C., Novak, T. P., & Hofacker, C. F. (2013). Consumer power: Evolution in the digital age. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 27, 257-269. doi:10.1016/j.intmar.2013.09.002

- Lages, L. F., Mata, J., & Griffith, D. A. (2013). Change in international market strategy as a reaction to performance decline. *Journal of Business Research*, 66, 2600-2611. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2012.05.018
- Lang, B., & Hyde, K. F. (2013). Word of mouth: What we know and what we have yet to learn. *Journal of Consumer Satisfaction, Dissatisfaction and Complaining*Behavior, 26, 3-18. Retrieved from https://faculty.unlv.edu/gnaylor/JCSDCB/
- Laroche, M., Habibi, M. R., & Richard, M. O. (2013). To be or not to be in social media:

 How brand loyalty is affected by social media?. *International Journal of Information Management*, 33, 76-82. doi:10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2012.07.003
- Lee, E. J., & Shin, S. Y. (2014). When do consumers buy online product reviews? Effects of review quality, product type, and reviewer's photo. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *31*, 356-366. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2013.10.050
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2013). *Practical research: Planning and design* (10th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Lewis, S. (2015). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. *Health Promotion Practice*, *16*, 473-475. doi:10.1177/1524839915580941
- Li, S. K., Guan, Z., Tang, L. Y., & Chen, Z. (2012). Exploiting consumer reviews for product feature ranking. *Journal of Computer Science and Technology*, 27, 635-649. doi:10.1007/s11390-012-1250-z
- Lim, W. M. (2013). Toward a theory of online buyer behavior using structural equation modeling. *Modern Applied Science*, 7, 34. doi:10.5539/mas.v7n10p34

- Lipnická D., & Ďaďo J. (2013). Marketing audit and factors influencing its use in practice of companies (from an expert point of view). *Journal of Competitiveness*, 5, 26-42. doi:10.7441/joc.2013.04.02
- Lis, B., & Neßler, C. (2014). Electronic word of mouth. *Business & Information Systems*Engineering, 6. doi:10.1007/s12599-013-0306-0
- Luo, X., & Zhang, J. (2013). How do consumer buzz and traffic in social media marketing predict the value of the firm? *Journal of Management Information*Systems, 30, 213-238. doi:10.2753/MIS0742-1222300208
- Majid, A., Chen, L., Chen, G., Mirza, H. T., Hussain, I., & Woodward, J. (2013). A context-aware personalized travel recommendation system based on geotagged social media data mining. *International Journal of Geographical Information Science*, 27, 662-684. doi:10.1080/13658816.2012.696649
- Malbon, J. (2013). Taking fake online consumer reviews seriously. *Journal of Consumer Policy*, *36*, 139-157. doi:10.1007/s10603-012-9216-7
- Mangioni, V., & McKerchar, M. (2013). Strengthening the validity and reliability of the focus group as a method in tax research. *eJournal of Tax Research*, 11(2), 176-190. Retrieved from www.austlii.edu
- Mansfield, K. C. (2013). How listening to student voices informs and strengthens social justice research and practice. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *50*, 392-430. doi:10.1177/0013161X13505288
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2014). *Designing qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- McDermid, F., Peters, K., Jackson, D., & Daly, J. (2014). Conducting qualitative research in the context of pre-existing peer and collegial relationships. *Nurse Researcher*, 21(5), 28-33. doi:10.7748/nr.21.5.28.e1232
- McIntosh, M. J., & Morse, J. M. (2015). Situating and constructing diversity in semistructured interviews. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, 2, 1-12. doi:10.1177/2333393615597674
- Meuter, M. L., McCabe, D. B., & Curran, J. M. (2013). Electronic word-of-mouth versus interpersonal word-of-mouth: Are all forms of word-of-mouth equally influential?. *Services Marketing Quarterly*, *34*, 240-256. doi:10.1080/15332969.2013.798201
- Miles, D. A., & Sparks, W. (2014). A focus group study: Examining women managers' attitudes on management and firing decisions in the apprentice with Donald Trump. *Academy of Business Research Journal*, 4, 50-66. Retrieved from http://aobronline.com
- Miles, M. B., & Huberman A. M., & Saldana, J. (2013). *Qualitative data analysis: A methods sourcebook* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Milosevic, I., Bass, A. E., & Combs, G. M. (2015). The paradox of knowledge creation in a high-reliability organization: A case study. *Journal of Management*, 44(6), 1-28. doi:10.1177/0149206315599215
- Mostafa, M. M. (2013). More than words: Social networks' text mining for consumer brand sentiments. *Expert Systems with Applications*, *40*, 4241-4251. doi:10.1016/j.eswa.2013.01.019

- Munn, Z., Porritt, K., Lockwood, C., Aromataris, E., & Pearson, A. (2014). Establishing confidence in the output of qualitative research synthesis: The ConQual approach.

 *BMC Medical Research Methodology, 14, 1-7. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-14-108
- Nica, E. (2013). Marketing implications of consumer behavior. *Economics, Management*and Financial Markets, 8(2), 124-129. Retrieved from

 http://www.addletonacademicpublishers.com/economics-management-andfinancial-markets
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 18(2), 34-35. doi:10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Noone, B. M., & McGuire, K. A. (2013). Effects of price and user-generated content on consumers' prepurchase evaluations of variably priced services. *Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Research*, 4, 562-581. doi:10.1177/1096348012461551
- O'hEocha, C., Wang, X., & Conboy, K. (2012). The use of focus groups in complex and pressurised IS studies and evaluation using Klein & Myers principles for interpretive research. *Information Systems Journal*, 22, 235-256. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2575.2011.00387.x
- O'Reilly, M., & Parker, N. (2013). "Unsatisfactory saturation": A critical exploration of the notion of saturated sample sizes in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 13(2), 190-197. doi:10.1177/1468794112446106
- Obal, M., & Lancioni, R. A. (2013). Maximizing buyer–supplier relationships in the digital era: Concept and research agenda. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 42, 851-854. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2013.06.002

- Obeidat, M., North, M., Richardson, R., Rattanak, V., & North, S. (2015). Business intelligence technology, applications, and trends. *International Management Review*, 11(2), 47-56. Retrieved from http://www.usimr.org/
- Okazaki, S., Díaz-Martín, A. M., Rozano, M., & Menéndez-Benito, H. D. (2015). Using Twitter to engage with customers: A data mining approach. *Internet Research*, 25, 416-434. doi:10.1108/intr-11-2013-0249
- Ong, T., Mannino, M., & Gregg, D. (2014). Linguistic characteristics of shill reviews.

 *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications, 13, 69-78.

 doi:10.1016/j.elerap.2013.10.002
- Pannucci, C. J., & Wilkins, E. G. (2010). Identifying and avoiding bias in research.

 *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, 126, 619.

 doi:10.1097/prs.0b013e3181de24bc
- Park, S., & Nicolau, J. L. (2015). Asymmetric effects of online consumer reviews. *Annals of Tourism Research*, 50, 67-83. doi:10.1016/j.annals.2014.10.007
- Perez, L., Whitelock, J., & Florin, J. (2013). Learning about customers: Managing B2B alliances between small technology startups and industry leaders. *European Journal of Marketing*, 47, 431-462. doi:10.1108/03090561311297409
- Petty, N. J., Thomson, O. P., & Stew, G. (2012). Ready for a paradigm shift? Part 2: Introducing qualitative research methodologies and methods, *Manual Therapy*, 17, 378-384. doi:10.1016/j.math.2012.03.004

- Pezalla, A. E., Pettigrew, J., & Miller-Day, M. (2012). Researching the researcher-as-instrument: An exercise in interviewer self-reflexivity. *Qualitative Research*, 12(2), 165-185. doi:10.1177/1468794111422107
- Pierre, E. A. S., & Jackson, A. Y. (2014). Qualitative data analysis after coding. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 20, 715-719. doi:10.1177/1077800414532435
- Pisano, G. P. (2015). You need an innovation strategy. *Harvard Business Review*, 93(6), 44-54. Retrieved from https://hbr.org/
- Pomirleanu, N., Schibrowsky, J. A., Peltier, J., & Nill, A. (2013). A review of internet marketing research over the past 20 years and future research direction. *Journal of Research in Interactive Marketing*, 7, 166-181. doi:10.1108/jrim-01-2013-0006
- Provost, F., & Fawcett, T. (2013). Data science and its relationship to big data and datadriven decision making. *Big Data*, 1, 51-59. doi:10.1089/big.2013.1508
- Racherla, P., & Friske, W. (2012). Perceived 'usefulness' of online consumer reviews:

 An exploratory investigation across three services categories. *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications, 11*, 548-559.

 doi:10.1016/j.elerap.2012.06.003
- Richard, M. O., & Habibi, M. R. (2016). Advanced modeling of online consumer behavior: The moderating roles of hedonism and culture. *Journal of Business Research*, 69, 1103-1119. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.08.026
- Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., Nicholls, C. M., & Ormston, R. (Eds.). (2013). Qualitative research practice: *A guide for social science students and researchers* (2nd ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage Publications.

- Ritter, J. (2016). Marketing strategy in the 21st century, a review and assessment of strategies and procedures for success and implementation. *The Business & Management Review*, 7(3), 68. Retrieved from http://www.bmr.businessjournalz.org/
- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11, 25-41. doi:10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Rui, H., Shi, Z., & Whinston, A. B., (2014). Content sharing in a social broadcasting environment: Evidence from Twitter. *MIS Quarterly*, *38*, 123-A6. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2341243
- Saghafian, S., & Van Oyen, M. P. (2012). The value of flexible backup suppliers and disruption risk information: Newsvendor analysis with recourse. *IIE Transactions*, 44, 834-867. doi:10.1080/0740817X.2012.654846
- Šalkovska, J., & Ogsta, E. (2014). Quantitative and qualitative measurement methods of companies' marketing efficiency. *Management of Organizations: Systematic Research*, 70, 91-105. doi:10.7220/MOSR.1392-1142.2014.70.7
- Sargunani, S. S., & Bruce, M. M. J. (2015). Impact of product and market factors on consumer behavior: A study on personal computers purchase. *Asian Journal of Applied Sciences*, 8, 92-100. doi:10.3923/ajaps.2015.92.100
- Sarmento, M., Simões, C., & Farhangmehr, M. (2015). Applying a relationship marketing perspective to B2B trade fairs: The role of socialization episodes. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 44, 131-141. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2014.10.010

- Schindler, R. M., & Bickart, B. (2012). Perceived helpfulness of online consumer reviews: The role of message content and style. *Journal of Consumer Behaviour*, 11, 234-243. doi:10.1002/cb.1372
- Schrems, B. M. (2014). Informed consent, vulnerability and the risks of group-specific attribution. *Nursing Ethics*, *21*, 829-843. doi:10.1177/0969733013518448
- See-To, E. W., & Ho, K. K. (2014). Value co-creation and purchase intention in social network sites: The role of electronic word-of-mouth and trust—a theoretical analysis. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *31*, 182-189. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2013.10.013
- Sheppard, S., & Jones, H. (2013). Researching the 'researched' about research: A fresh perspective on the power of focus groups. *Market & Social Research*, 21, 40-47. Retrieved from http://amsrs.com.au
- Situmeang, F. B., Leenders, M. A., & Wijnberg, N. M. (2014). History matters: The impact of reviews and sales of earlier versions of a product on consumer and expert reviews of new editions. *European Management Journal*, *32*, 73-83. doi:10.1016/j.emj.2013.11.001
- Song, G. Y., Cheon, Y., Lee, K., Lim, H., Chung, K. Y., & Rim, H. C. (2014). Multiple categorizations of products: Cognitive modeling of customers through social media data mining. *Personal and Ubiquitous Computing*, 18, 1387-1403. doi:10.1007/s00779-013-0740-5

- Sotiriadis, M. D., & Van Zyl, C. (2013). Electronic word-of-mouth and online reviews in tourism services: The use of twitter by tourists. *Electronic Commerce**Research*, 13, 103-124. doi:10.1007/s10660-013-9108-1
- Sparks, B. A., Perkins, H. E., & Buckley, R. (2013). Online travel reviews as persuasive communication: The effects of content type, source, and certification logos on consumer behavior. *Tourism Management*, *39*, 1-9. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2013.03.007
- Taylor, J. E., Dossick, C. S., & Garvin, M. (2011). Meeting the burden of proof with case-study research. *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, *137*, 303-311. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)CO.1943-7862.0000283
- Tellado, I., Lopez-Calvo, L., & Alonso-Olea, M. J. (2014). Dialogic design of qualitative data collection for researching the mirage of upward mobility. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 20, 856-862. doi:10.1177/1077800414537207
- Thomas, E., & Magilvy, J. K. (2011). Qualitative rigor or research validity in qualitative research. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing*, *16*, 151-155. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6155.2011.00283.x
- Ueasangkomsate, P. (2015). Adoption e-commerce for export market of small and medium enterprises in Thailand. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 207, 111-120. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.10.158
- Utz, S., Kerkhof, P., & van den Bos, J. (2012). Consumers rule: How consumer reviews influence perceived trustworthiness of online stores. *Electronic Commerce**Research and Applications, 11, 49-58. doi:10.1016/j.elerap.2011.07.010

- Van Der Heide, B., Johnson, B. K., & Vang, M. H. (2013). The effects of product photographs and reputation systems on consumer behavior and product cost on eBay. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29, 570-576.

 doi:10.1016/j.chb.2012.11.002
- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Bala, H. (2013). Bridging the qualitative-quantitative divide: Guidelines for conducting mixed methods research in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, *37*(1), 21-54. Retrieved from http://www.misq.org
- Vernon-Dotson, L. J. (2013). A review of "doing case study research: A practical guide for beginning researchers." *The Journal of Educational Research*, 106(3), 250-250. doi:10.1080/00220671.2012.750135
- Viio, P., & Grönroos, C. (2014). Value-based sales process adaptation in business relationships. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 43, 1085-1095. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2014.05.022
- Vincent, T. N., & Selvarani, D. C. (2013). Personal values approach for a better understanding of consumer behaviour. *International Journal of Innovative**Research and Development, 2, 509-517. Retrieved from http://www.ijird.com/
- Vinerean, S., Cetina, I., Dumitrescu, L., & Tichindelean, M. (2013). The effects of social media marketing on online consumer behavior. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 8, 66. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v8n14p66
- Wang, S. (2014). The effect of online consumer reviews on attitude and purchase intention: The role of message and source characteristics. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/2152/25282

- Whiting, A., & Williams, D. (2013). Why people use social media: A uses and gratifications approach. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, 16, 362-369. doi:10.1108/qmr-06-2013-0041
- Wilson, R., Kieburtz, K., Holloway, R. G., & Kim, S. Y. H. (2014). Evidence-based research ethics and determinations of engagement in research. *IRB: Ethics & Human Research*, *36*(2), 10-13. www.thehastingscenter.org/Publications/IRB/
- Woo, J., Ahn, J., Lee, J., & Koo, Y. (2015). Media channels and consumer purchasing decisions. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 115, 1510-1528. doi:10.1108/imds-02-2015-0036
- Woodyatt, C. R., Finneran, C. A., & Stephenson, R. (2016). In-person versus online focus group discussions a comparative analysis of data quality. *Qualitative Health**Research. doi:10.1177/1049732316631510
- Xia, L. (2013). Effects of companies' responses to consumer criticism in social media. *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 17(4), 73-100.

 doi:10.2753/JEC1086-4415170403
- Xiang, Z., Wang, D., O'Leary, J. T., & Fesenmaier, D. R. (2014). Adapting to the internet: Trends in travelers' use of the web for trip planning. *Journal of Travel Research*. doi:10.1177/0047287514522883
- Xun, J. (2014). Revisiting the two-stage choice model: An empirical study of consumer choice on brand website visits. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, *33*, 1192-1207. doi:10.1080/0144929x.2013.872188

- Yadav, M. S., & Pavlou, P. A. (2014). Marketing in computer-mediated environments:

 Research synthesis and new directions. *Journal of Marketing*, 78, 20-40.

 doi:10.1509/jm.12.0020
- Yin, R. K. (2013). Validity and generalization in future case study evaluations. *Evaluation*, 19, 312-332. doi:10.1177/1356389013497081
- Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case study research: Design and methods* (5th ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage Publications.
- Yu, D., & Hang, C. C. (2010). A reflective review of disruptive innovation theory. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 12, 435-452. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2370.2009.00272.x
- Zhao, Y., Yang, S., Narayan, V., & Zhao, Y. (2013). Modeling consumer learning from online product reviews. *Marketing Science*, 32, 153-169. doi:10.1287/mksc.1120.0755
- Zhou, L. (2013). Doing qualitative research in Chinese contexts: Lessons learned from conducting interviews in a Chinese healthcare environment. *Library Hi Tech*, *31*, 419-434. doi:10.1108/LHT-11-2012-0104

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

- 1. Contact participant(s) via e-mail or phone.
- 2. Explain research intent to the participant(s) to evaluate knowledge and qualifications.
- 3. Schedule meeting with the participant(s) to discuss interest to participate.
- 4. Conduct demographic survey interview.
- 5. Schedule interview time and location.
- 6. Use recording device to record the interview.
- 7. Conduct interview using interview questions.
- 8. Conclude interview with follow-up and additional question(s).
- 9. Reemphasize privacy summary.